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LOGIN ONTO ANNUAL STATUTORY RETURN  
 

 
 
Not yet a user on the system: 
 
Click on the words „Register Here‟. 
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The following screen will appear when the user clicked on the „Register Here‟ button: 
 

 
 
The user should ensure that he or she selects all the schemes, for which he or she would want to 
register, when clicking on the selection-button. 
 
When the user submits his or her request to be registered, an e-mail will be send to the 
„administrator‟ of that scheme, to approve the registration of the user.  Please note that our system 
has one administrator for each scheme, which is the very first person to register as a user for that 
specific scheme. 
 
As soon as we receive the approval from the „administrator‟ of the scheme, the Office will e-mail 
the new user his or her username and password to access the online statutory return. 
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Registered as an user on the system  
 
The user should then capture his or her user name and password on the login screen and press 
submit. 
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Forgot your password? 
 
Should a user forget his or her password, the user should use the button provided on the login 
screen stating “Forgot your Password? Click Here” 
 
The following screen will appear, and the user will be required to complete the required information 
and press OK.  If the secret answer corresponds with the answer captured during the registration 
process of the user, the user will receive an e-mail from the Office with his password. 
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As soon as the user has logged in, the following screen will appear:  
 

 
 
The user should choose the specific scheme he or she wants to access.  The user will also have 
the option to choose whether he or she wants to access the current year‟s return or the previous 
years‟ returns (in a read-only format). 
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After selecting the scheme, the following screen will appear: 
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CONTACT US 
 
Should a user experience any problems with the online statutory return, he or she can contact the 
Office at any point in time by just clicking on the ‘Contact us’ option on the task bar. The following 
screen will appear: 
 

 
 
The name of the financial analyst responsible for the specific scheme will appear on the screen.  
The user should only complete the details of his or her enquiry and press „send‟.  An e-mail will be 
send to the specific financial analyst responsible for the scheme.  It is then the financial analyst‟s 
responsibility to contact the scheme and resolve the enquiry.  
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STATUTORY RETURN 
 
To access the individual parts of the online statutory return, the user should click on the „statutory 
return‟ button on the task bar. Part 1.1 will automatically open. 
 
General comments on the completion of the return 
 
The system does not recognise apostrophes (‘) and &-signs. Any data that contains these 
signs will not be saved. 
 
The system ignores comma (,) signs. Any text data containing comma signs will be saved, 
the comma sign itself will however not be saved. 
 
PART 1 MEDICAL SCHEME DETAILS 
 
Part 1.1  Details of Medical Scheme and Certification of Return 
 

 
 

The details of the scheme and its officials are maintained by the Office. Part 1 will therefore always 
be in a read-only format. In order to affect changes in this part, refer to the pop-up for the contact 
details of the relevant person to address the updates to. 
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Please ensure that the latest details of the Principal Officer, Chairperson, Trustee signatory, 
Scheme, Administrator, Co-Administrator, Fund manager, User, Auditor(s) and Liquidator or 
Curator (where applicable) are updated every period in part 1.1 of the return. Kindly also refer to 
Circular 9 of 2009 in this respect. Please note that the word document will be automatically e-
mailed to the various persons indicated in Part 1 of the return. 
 
Kindly note that the Principal Officer and Board of Trustees as at 31 December will be responsible 
for the signing of the return. (Also refer to “Certification of the return” for further requirements in 
respect of the signing of the return.) 
 
Reference number 
 
When the scheme was originally uploaded onto the system, a reference number was automatically 
registered on our system. 

 
Please note that the reference number will stay the same even if the scheme changed its name. 
 
Amalgamations 
 
A final set of audited accounts, including the statutory return for the year in which a scheme has 
amalgamated have to be prepared and submitted to the Registrar. 

 
Please take note that all the sections must be completed with the data for the period in which the 
scheme that amalgamated was still in operation.  This is done to ensure that the full 12 months‟ 
figures are obtained for all sections, especially parts 3 and 4 in respect of the service providers and 
the statement of comprehensive income (the reason being that the new scheme will not report on 
that data in their return as only opening balances are taking into account in their return). 
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Every line item of the statement of financial position should be completed in detail.  The closing 
statement of financial position figures will become zero through the use of the last line item “Less: 
Transfer of assets / liability due to amalgamation”. For example: 
 
 

 
 
Please ensure that the closing balances of the scheme that amalgamated agree with the opening 
balance that has been taken forward to the new scheme for incorporation into their accounts.  
 



HELP FILE: 2010 ANNUAL STATUTORY RETURN    

Page 15 of 132 

Consolidations 
 
Where a scheme completes the annual return on a consolidated basis, group transactions that 
relates to other parties in the group (not the scheme) should be aggregated and included in the 
specific line provided for on the statement of financial position items.  
 
 

 
 



HELP FILE: 2010 ANNUAL STATUTORY RETURN    

Page 16 of 132 

All income statement transactions for the group companies should be included in part 4.23 
line 4.23.36 and part 6 line 6.22: 
 

 
 
Liquidations 
 
A final set of accounts, including the statutory return, should be prepared until the effective date of 
liquidation. 
 
Auditor(s) 
 
The details of the auditor(s), as approved by the Registrar in terms of section 36 of the Act for the 
applicable financial year, will be reflected in part 1.9. 

 
Certification of the return 
 
In terms of section 39(1) of the Act a medical scheme shall be deemed not to have complied with 
any provision of this Act which imposes upon such a medical scheme the obligation to furnish to 
the Registrar a document prepared by the medical scheme, unless such document is signed by the 
Principal Officer and one other person authorised in accordance with the rules of the medical 
scheme to sign documents. 
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In addition section 39(2)(a) of the Act requires that the following persons shall sign any document 
within terms of any provision of the Act must be furnished by a medical scheme to the Registrar: 
(a) In the case of a board of trustees, the chairperson of the board of trustees, and by one other 

member of such board; and 
(b) In any other case, persons designated by the Registrar who exercise control over the business 

of the medical scheme concerned. 
 
It is important to note that the signing authority of a Principal Officer and/or Chairperson can only 
be delegated to a suitable person appointed by the board of trustees; the appointment of the acting 
Principal Officer should be in line with the provisions of section 57(4) (a) and 57(7) of the Medical 
Schemes Act, and the appointment of the acting Chairperson in line with the rules of the scheme. 
 
Where applicable, a copy of the signed board of trustee resolution, where another person was 
appointed, should accompany the annual statutory return.  
 
The auditor must initial parts 4 to 10 of the return for identification purposes, and the Principal 
Officer should initial all parts of the return for identification purposes. 
 
Part 1.2 Benefit Options 
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The Council keeps record of the registered benefit options of the scheme and as such part 1.2 will 
be in a read-only format. Part 1.2 reflects all registered options for the financial year concerned; 
even if some of the options were discontinued during the course of the year.  
 
A scheme should NOT request the registration of an option in part 1.2 if that option was not in 
operation during the year concerned.  Provision has been made for financial transactions in the 
„other‟ column in part 4.23 of the return, should the scheme have incurred some financial 
transactions in the year concerned for options been deregistered but are in process of being 
winded down.  
 
The benefit options captured in part 1.2 will automatically pull through to parts 2.1, 2.3, 2.7 and 
4.23. 
 

Part 1.3 Board of Trustees 
 

 
 

As the Office keeps record of the details of the scheme and its officials, this part is in a read-only 
format. The names of all the board of trustees that were in office during the financial year (at any 
point in time) are listed in this part.  It should be noted that the names captured in part 1.3 
automatically pulls through to part 4.17, where the scheme completes the remuneration and 
considerations paid to the board of trustee members during the financial year concerned. 
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Part 1.4 Report of the Management Board/Committee 
 

 
 
This part requires the board of trustees to complete a number of questions. The format of the 
questions requires a “yes” or “no” answer. More details might be required in some questions 
depending on the answer. Please note that the user‟s answer will not be accepted if the boxes that 
require more detail are not completed.   
 
The names of third party providers in question 6(a)(ii) pulls through to part 4.12. Similarly names 
detailed in the answers to questions 6(c), 6(d) and 7 pulls through to parts 4.13, 4.14 and 4.26 
respectively. 
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PART 2 NON FINANCIAL DATA 
 
Please note that when certain specifications are met, the user will be required to complete a 
reason box. The user will not be able to submit the return without completing the relevant reason 
boxes. 
 
Part 2.1 Membership at the End of the Financial Year 
 

 

 
 

The membership figures for each of the benefit options should be provided in this part. The 
dependants should also be split between adult and child dependants as defined in the rules of the 
scheme.  Beneficiaries are the sum of members and dependants. 
 
Dependant ratio 
The dependant ratio is calculated as the total dependants (adult plus child) divided by the number 
of members. This calculation is done automatically. 
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Reason boxes 
The following reason boxes must be completed when specifications are met: 

 Please provide the reasons, should the members and/or adult and/or child dependants be zero 
for any option; and 

 Please provide the reasons, and action to be taken, should the principle members be less than 
6 000 members. 

 
Part 2.2 Number of Registered Members and Dependants at the End of Each Month 

 
 

 
 

The scheme should capture the number of members, adult dependants and child dependants (as 
defined in the scheme‟s rules) per month in this section. Beneficiaries are the sum of members and 
dependants. 
 
The December figures automatically pulls from part 2.1. 
 
Average members and dependants 
The total number of members and dependants for the year divided by the number of months in 
which the medical scheme had members.  For example, if a scheme had members from October to 
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December for the financial year, the total will be divided by three. This calculation is done 
automatically. 
 
Dependant ratio 
The dependant ratio is calculated as the total number of dependants (adult plus child) divided by 
the number of members. This calculation is done automatically. 
 
Reason boxes 
The following reason box must be completed when specifications are met: 

 Please provide the reasons, should the members and/or adult and/or child dependants be zero 
for any option. 

 
Part 2.3 Age Analysis of Beneficiaries as at the End of the Financial Year 
 

 
 

The scheme should capture the number of beneficiaries as at 31 December per age band in this 
section.  It is important to note that the age of the beneficiary should be calculated as at 1 January 
of the financial year concerned. This information should be provided on an option level, and should 
be split between male and female beneficiaries. 
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The consolidated number of beneficiaries as well as the number of beneficiaries per option should 
validate to the number of beneficiaries captured in part 2.1. 
 
65 years + ratio 
 
The system automatically calculates the number of beneficiaries older than 65 years as a 
percentage of the total beneficiaries. This is done on a consolidated as well as option level. 
 
Average age per beneficiary 
 
The system automatically calculates the average age per beneficiary for the scheme as well as the 
individual options. 

 
Reason boxes 
 
The following reason box must be completed when specifications are met: 

 Please provide the reasons, should the total males or females be zero for any option. 
 

Part 2.4.1 Member Movement 
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The scheme should complete the number of members transferring from other schemes as well as 
the number of members not transferring from other schemes (new entries into the medical scheme 
environment), per month in this part. The number of dependants joining the scheme should also be 
completed per month. 
 
The number of members and dependants leaving the scheme should also be completed per 
month. 
 
It should be noted that the net monthly movement in the beneficiaries in this part should agree with 
the movement in beneficiaries per month, as completed in part 2.2 of the return. 
 
Part 2.4.2  Age Analysis of Member Movement as at the End of the Financial Year 
 

 

 
 

The scheme should complete the number of new members and dependants joining the scheme as 
well as the number of members and dependants leaving the scheme per age band. 
 
Important to note that the age of the beneficiary should be calculated as at 1 January of the 
financial year concerned. 
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The total number of members and dependants joining the scheme should agree with the number of 
members and dependants joining the scheme as captured in part 2.4.1.  The same applies for the 
number of members and dependants leaving the scheme. 
 
The scheme should note the reasons in the event that there were members for the age groups less 
than one year who joined or left the scheme as they are usually considered to be dependants on a 
scheme. 
 
Part 2.5 Waiting Periods 
 

 
 

The scheme should complete the number of beneficiaries, per age band (new beneficiaries that 
entered the medical schemes environment as well as new beneficiaries transferred from other 
medical schemes) to whom the following were imposed: 

 General waiting periods 

 Pre-existing condition exclusions 

 Late joiner penalties 
 
Important to note that the age of the beneficiary should be calculated as at 1 January of the 
financial year concerned. 
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Reason boxes 
The following reason boxes must be completed when specification are met: 

 Please provide reasons why no general waiting periods were imposed; 

 Please provide reasons why no pre-existing condition exclusions were  imposed; and 

 Please provide reasons why no late joiner penalties were imposed. 
 
Part 2.6 Utilisation 
 

 
 

The previous year‟s figures are automatically pulled through from the previous year‟s return. The 
“Unlock previous year figures” button allows the scheme to make adjustments to these figures if 
needs be. In the event that the scheme had to make any adjustments to the previous year‟s 
figures, the details and/or reasons for the changes needs to be provided in the reason box. 
 
It is important to note that the scheme is required to provide data on the number of admissions to 
ICU, High Care, General Ward, Emergency Unit and Renal Dialysis, and not the number of 
beneficiaries admitted to ICU, High Care, General Ward and Renal Dialysis.   
 
2.6.1.1 Refers to the number of beneficiaries visiting GP‟s at least once a year e.g. should the 
scheme have 6 000 beneficiaries and only 4 000 beneficiaries visited the GP at least once during 
the year, then 4 000 should be included in part 2.6.1.1. 
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However, taken from the above example, should those 4 000 beneficiaries visited the GP 3 times 
each during the year, then 12 000 visits should be recorded in part 2.6.1.2.  
 
On part 2.6.1 the number of beneficiaries visiting at least once a year should be smaller than or 
equal to the (total number of beneficiaries registered as at 31 December OR average numbers of 
beneficiaries as at 31 December). The number of beneficiaries visiting at least once a year should 
be smaller than or equal to the total number of visits. 
 
On both parts 2.6.2 and 2.6.3 the number of beneficiaries receiving administrations should be 
smaller than or equal to the (total number of beneficiaries registered as at 31 December OR 
average numbers of beneficiaries as at 31 December). The number of beneficiaries receiving 
administrations should be smaller than or equal to the number of administrations. 
 
Please note that part 2.6.2 refers to utilisation both in-hospital and out-of-hospital. 
 
Number of beneficiaries admitted refers to the total number of people who were admitted / 
hospitalised.  Thus, number of beneficiaries admitted would refer to the number of individuals 
belonging to a medical scheme who were admitted at a private or state hospital.   Number of 
admissions refers to the total number of times that a specific individual was admitted/ hospitalised. 
Hospital admissions = admission with overnight stay (lasting 24 hours or more). Same-day 
admissions = (e.g. same-day procedures, lasting less than 24 hours). Total number of admissions 
= same-day admissions + admissions. 
 
The number of births as per parts 2.6.2.12 and 2.6.3.11 includes both live – and still births.   
 
The number of deaths (2.6.2.18 and 2.6.3.17) only relates to deaths of people under treatment.  
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Part 2.7 Number of Beneficiaries Suffering From the Following Chronic Diseases  
 

Please note that the Office regards the information provided in this part as confidential, and will not 
distribute it to the public. 
 

 
 

The previous year‟s figures are automatically pulled through from the previous year‟s return. The 
“Unlock previous year figures” button allows the scheme to make adjustments to these figures if 
needs be. In the event that the scheme had to make any adjustments to the previous year‟s 
figures, the details and/or reasons for the changes needs to be provided in the reason box. 
 
The prevalence of persons with the listed chronic conditions is required. Every beneficiary who 
has any of the listed chronic conditions in the financial year (January - December) must be 
counted. 
 
For beneficiaries with multiple conditions - each condition must be counted separately. 
 
REF entry and verification criteria must not be used for the Annual Statutory Return data 
submission as these two datasets are collected for fundamentally different purposes. DO NOT 
supply REF count data as this will be verified and subsequently rejected. The objective of Part 2.7 
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is to measure the burden of the disease whereas the REF data would reflect the highest cost of 
chronic disease.  
 
ICD-10 codes should be used to identify the prevalence of these conditions. (NAPPI and other 
codes should never be used). Valid ICD-10 codes to be used are shown in Table 1. 
 
The number of beneficiaries with a chronic condition should be less than or equal to the total 
number of beneficiaries in a scheme as at 31 December OR Average number of beneficiaries as at 
31 December. 
 
Please note that blanks or missing numbers will not be accepted. 

 Table 1: ICD-10 codes for the identification of persons with chronic conditions 

Disease ICD-10 code 

Addison‟s Disease E27.1 

Asthma J45.0 
J45.1 
J45.8 
J45.9 
J46 

Bipolar mood disorder F31.0 
F31.1 
F31.2 
F31.3 
F31.4 
F31.5 
F31.6 
F31.7 
F31.8 
F31.9 

Bronchiectasis J47 
Q33.4 
 

Cardiac failure I50.0 
I50.1 
I50.9 
I11.0 
I13.0 
I13.2 

Cardiomyopathy I42.0 - I42.9 
I25.5 

Chronic Renal Disease N03.0 - N03.9 
N11.0 
N11.1 
N11.8 
N11.9 
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Disease ICD-10 code 

N18.0 
N18.8 
N18.9 
I12.0 
I13.1 
I13.2 
O10.2 
O10.3 

Chronic Obstructive 
Pulmonary Disease 

J43.0 
J43.1 
J43.2 
J43.8 
J43.9 
J44.0 
J44.1 
J44.8 
J44.9 

Coronary Artery Disease I20.0 
I20.1 
I20.8 
I20.9 
I25.0 
I25.1 
I25.2 
I25.3 
I25.4 
I25.5 
I25.6 
I25.8 
I25.9 

Crohn‟s Disease K50.0 
K50.1 
K50.8 
K50.9 
 

Diabetes Insipidus E23.2 

Diabetes Mellitus Type 1 E10.0 
E10.1 
E10.2†N08.3* 
E10.3†H28.0* 
E10.3†H36.0* 
E10.4†G73.0* 
E10.4†G99.0* 
E10.4†G59.0* 
E10.4†G63.2* 
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Disease ICD-10 code 

E10.5 
E10.5†I79.2* 
E10.6 
E10.6†M14.2* 
E10.6†M14.6* 
E10.7 
E10.8 
E10.9 
E12.0 
E12.1 
E12.2†N08.3* 
E12.3†H28.0* 
E12.3†H36.0* 
E12.4†G73.0* 
E12.4†G99.0* 
E12.4†G59.0* 
E12.4†G63.2* 
E12.5 
E12.5†I79.2* 
E12.6 
E12.6†M14.2* 
E12.6†M14.6* 
E12.7 
E12.8 
E12.9 
O24.0 
O24.2 
O24.3 

Diabetes Mellitus Type 2 E11.0 
E11.1 
E11.2†N08.3* 
E11.3†H28.0* 
E11.3†H36.0* 
E11.4†G73.0* 
E11.4†G99.0* 
E11.4†G59.0* 
E11.4†G63.2* 
E11.5 
E11.5†I79.2* 
E11.6 
E11.6†M14.2* 
E11.6†M14.6* 
E11.7 
E11.8 
E11.9 
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Disease ICD-10 code 

E12.0 
E12.1 
E12.2†N08.3* 
E12.3†H28.0* 
E12.3†H36.0* 
E12.4†G73.0* 
E12.4†G99.0* 
E12.4†G59.0* 
E12.4†G63.2* 
E12.5 
E12.5†I79.2* 
E12.6 
E12.6†M14.2* 
E12.6†M14.6* 
E12.7 
E12.8 
E12.9 
O24.1 
O24.2 
O24.3 

Dysrhythmias I47.2 
I48 

Epilepsy G40.0 - G40.9 
G41.0 
G41.1 
G41.2 
G41.8 
G41.9 

Glaucoma H40.0 
H40.1 
H40.2 
H40.3 
H40.4 
H40.5 
H40.6 
H40.8 
H40.9 
Q15.0 

Haemophilia D66 
D67 

Hyperlipidaemia E78.0 
E78.1 - E78.5 

Hypertension I10 
I11.0 
I11.9 
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Disease ICD-10 code 

I12.0 
I12.9 
I13.0 
I13.1 
I13.2 
I13.9 
I15.0 
I15.1 
I15.2 
I15.8 
I15.9 
O10.0 
O10.1 
O10.2 
O10.3 
O10.4 
O10.9 
O11 

Hypothyroidism E01.8 
E02 
E03.0 
E03.1 
E03.2 
E03.3 
E03.4 
E03.5 
E03.8 
E03.9 
E89.0 

Multiple Sclerosis G35 

Parkinson‟s disease G20 
G21.0 
G21.1 
G21.2 
G21.3 
G21.8 
G21.9 

Rheumatoid Arthritis M05.00 M05.38†I52.8* 
M05.01 M05.38†I39.0* 
M05.02 M05.38†I39.1* 
M05.03 M05.38†I39.2* 
M05.04 M05.38†I39.3* 
M05.05 M05.38†I39.4* 
M05.06 M05.38†I39.8* 
M05.07 M05.38†I41.8* 
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Disease ICD-10 code 

M05.08 M05.38†G73.7* 
M05.09 M05.38†I32.8* 
M05.10†J99.0* M05.38†G63.6* 
M05.11†J99.0* M05.39†I52.8* 
M05.12†J99.0* M05.39†I39.0* 
M05.13†J99.0* M05.39†I39.1* 
M05.14†J99.0* M05.39†I39.2* 
M05.15†J99.0* M05.39†I39.3* 
M05.16†J99.0* M05.39†I39.4* 
M05.17†J99.0* M05.39†I39.8* 
M05.18†J99.0* M05.39†I41.8* 
M05.19†J99.0* M05.39†G73.7* 
M05.20 M05.39†I32.8* 
M05.21 M05.39†G63.6* 
M05.22 M05.80 
M05.23 M05.81 
M05.24 M05.82 
M05.25 M05.83 
M05.26 M05.84 
M05.27 M05.85 
M05.28 M05.86 
M05.29 M05.87 
M05.30† I52.8* M05.88 
M05.30†I39.0* M05.89 
M05.30†I39.1* M05.90 
M05.30†I39.2* M05.91 
M05.30†I39.3* M05.92 
M05.30†I39.4* M05.93 
M05.30†I39.8* M05.94 
M05.30†I41.8* M05.95 
M05.30†G73.7* M05.96 
M05.30†I32.8* M05.97 
M05.30†G63.6* M05.98 
M05.31†I52.8* M05.99 
M05.31†I39.0* M06.00 
M05.31†I39.1* M06.01 
M05.31†I39.2* M06.02 
M05.31†I39.3* M06.03 
M05.31†I39.4* M06.04 
M05.31†I39.8* M06.05 
M05.31†I41.8* M06.06 
M05.31†G73.7* M06.07 
M05.31†I32.8* M06.08 
M05.31†G63.6* M06.09 
M05.32†I52.8* M06.10 
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Disease ICD-10 code 

M05.32†I39.0* M06.11 
M05.32†I39.1* M06.12 
M05.32†I39.2* M06.13 
M05.32†I39.3* M06.14 
M05.32†I39.4* M06.15 
M05.32†I39.8* M06.16 
M05.32†I41.8* M06.17 
M05.32†G73.7* M06.18 
M05.32†I32.8* M06.19 
M05.32†G63.6* M06.20 
M05.33† I52.8* M06.21 
M05.33†I39.0* M06.22 
M05.33†I39.1* M06.23 
M05.33†I39.2* M06.24 
M05.33†I39.3* M06.25 
M05.33†I39.4* M06.26 
M05.33†I39.8* M06.27 
M05.33†I41.8* M06.28 
M05.33†G73.7* M06.29 
M05.33†I32.8* M06.30 
M05.33†G63.6* M06.31 
M05.34†I52.8* M06.32 
M05.34†I39.0* M06.33 
M05.34†I39.1* M06.34 
M05.34†I39.2* M06.35 
M05.34†I39.3* M06.36 
M05.34†I39.4* M06.37 
M05.34†I39.8* M06.38 
M05.34†I41.8* M06.39 
M05.34†G73.7* M06.40 
M05.34†I32.8* M06.41 
M05.34†G63.6* M06.42 
M05.35†I52.8* M06.43 
M05.35†I39.0* M06.44 
M05.35†I39.1* M06.45 
M05.35†I39.2* M06.46 
M05.35†I39.3* M06.47 
M05.35†I39.4* M06.48 
M05.35†I39.8* M06.49 
M05.35†I41.8* M06.80 
M05.35†G73.7* M06.81 
M05.35†I32.8* M06.82 
M05.35†G63.6* M06.83 
M05.36† I52.8* M06.84 
M05.36†I39.0* M06.85 
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Disease ICD-10 code 

M05.36†I39.1* M06.86 
M05.36†39.2* M06.87 
M05.36†I39.3* M06.88 
M05.36†I39.4* M06.89 
M05.36†I39.8* M06.90 
M05.36†I41.8* M06.91 
M05.36†G73.7* M06.92 
M05.36†I32.8* M06.93 
M05.36†G63.6* M06.94 
M05.37†I52.8* M06.95 
M05.37†I39.0* M06.96 
M05.37†I39.1* M06.97 
M05.37†I39.2* M06.98 
M05.37†I39.3* M06.99 
M05.37†I39.4* M08.00 
M05.37†I39.8* M08.01 
M05.37†I41.8* M08.02 
M05.37†G73.7* M08.03 
M05.37†I32.8* M08.04 
M05.37†G63.6* M08.05 
 M08.06 
 M08.07 
 M08.08 
 M08.09 

Schizophrenia F20.0 
F20.1 
F20.2 
F20.3 
F20.4 
F20.5 
F20.6 
F20.8 
F20.9 

Systemic Lupus 
Erythematosus 

M32.0 
M32.1†I32.8* 
M32.1†I39.0* 
M32.1†I39.1* 
M32.1†I39.2* 
M32.1†I39.3* 
M32.1†I39.4* 
M32.1†I39.8* 
M32.1†N08.5* 
M32.1†N16.4* 
M32.1†J99.1* 
M32.8 
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Disease ICD-10 code 

M32.9 
L93.0 
L93.1 
L93.2 

Ulcerative colitis K51.0 
K51.1 - K51.5 
K51.8 
K51.9 

 

Part 2.8 Analysis of Utilisation of Services by Specialists 
 

 
  
Both the number of visits to specialists as well as the number of beneficiaries who visited a 
specialist at least once in the financial year concerned should be completed in this part. 
 
Should any specialist not be included in the list provided, the scheme should complete the required 
information in the „other‟ box provided in part 2.8.28, and specify the specific specialist.  The 
scheme must please ensure that only specialists not referred to elsewhere in this applicable part 
are listed in part 2.8.28. 
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The variable “Other Medical or Clinical Support Specialists” should never be used when a pre-
defined category exists. In cases where “Other Medical or Clinical Support Specialists” is used as a 
“dumping ground”, the Annual Statutory Return will be rejected and returned to the Principal Officer 
for correction and re-submission 
 
The number of beneficiaries visiting at least once per year should be smaller than or equal to (the 
total number of beneficiaries in scheme as at 31 December OR average numbers of beneficiaries 
as at 31st December).  
The number of beneficiaries visiting at least once per year should be smaller than or equal to the 
total number of visits to specialists.  
 

The number of beneficiaries visiting at least once per year and the total number of visits to 
specialists should not be equal to zero (i.e. zeros and blanks will not be accepted). 
 

Part 2.9 Analysis of Utilisation of Services by Allied and Support Health 
Professionals 
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The number of visits to Supplementary and Allied Health Professionals as well as the number of 
beneficiaries who visited Supplementary and Allied Health Professionals at least once in the 
financial year concerned should be completed in this part. 
 
The number of beneficiaries visiting at least once per year should be smaller than or equal to the 
(total number of beneficiaries in scheme as at 31 December OR average numbers of beneficiaries 
as at 31st December). The number of beneficiaries visiting at least once per year should also be 
smaller than or equal to the total number of visits to Supplementary and Allied Health 
Professionals, but not equal to zero (i.e. zeros and blanks will not be accepted). The total number 
of visits to Supplementary and Allied Health Professionals should also not equal zero (i.e. zeros 
and blanks will not be accepted). 
 

Should any Supplementary and Allied Health Professionals not be included in the list provided, the 
scheme should complete the required information in the „other‟ box provided in part 2.9.25, and 
specify the specific Supplementary and Allied Health Professionals.  The scheme must please 
ensure that only Supplementary and Allied Health Professionals not referred to elsewhere in this 
applicable part are listed in part 2.9.25. 
 
The variable Other Supplementary and Allied Health Professionals should never be used when a 
pre-defined category exists. In cases where Other Supplementary and Allied Health Professionals 
is used as a “dumping ground”, the Annual Statutory Return will be rejected and returned to the 
Principal Officer for correction and re-submission. 
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Part 2.10 Analysis of Utilisation of Other Benefit Services 
 

 
 

The number of claims from beneficiaries for the other benefit services listed as well as the number 
of beneficiaries who submitted at least one claim during the financial year concerned should be 
completed in this part. 
 
The number of beneficiaries who submitted at least one claim should be smaller than or equal to 
the (total number of beneficiaries in scheme as at 31 December OR average numbers of 
beneficiaries as at 31st December). The number of beneficiaries who submitted at least one claim 
should be smaller than or equal to the total number of claims from beneficiaries, but not equal to 
zero (i.e. zeros and blanks will not be accepted). The total number of claims from beneficiaries 
should not be equal to zero (i.e. zeros and blanks will not be accepted). 
 
Should any specific benefit not be included in the list provided, the scheme should complete the 
required information in the „other‟ box provided in part 2.10.16, and specify the specific benefit 
service.  The scheme must please ensure that only benefit services not referred to elsewhere in 
this applicable part are listed in part 2.10.16. 
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The variable Other Benefit Services should never be used when a pre-defined category exists. In 
cases where Other Benefit Services is used as a “dumping ground”, the Annual Statutory Return 
will be rejected and returned to the Principle Officer for correction and re-submission. 
 
Part 2.11 Analysis of Utilisation of Medicines 
 

 

 
 

Part 2.11 requires the total number of scripts filled and the total number of items dispensed in-
hospital and out-of-hospital by various categories of health professionals. 
 
The total number of scripts filled and the total number of items dispensed should not be equal to 
zero OR left blank (i.e. blanks and zeros will not be accepted).  
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Part 2.12 Distribution of Membership at End of Financial Year 
 

 
 
The number of members, adult dependants and child dependants per province should be 
completed in this part. Beneficiaries are the sum of members and dependants. 
 
The total number of members and dependants in this part should agree with the consolidated total 
number of members and dependants in part 2.1. 
 

This information is normally collected from the following sources: 

 Private Postal Address 

 Business Postal Address 

 Employer (Pay Point) 
 
In the event that the information is collected from other sources than the above-mentioned sources, 
the scheme would be required to provide more detail. 
 
The Office would prefer this part to illustrate the distribution of members based on where services 
are delivered to the beneficiaries. 
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Part 2.13 Utilisation of Private Hospitals by Age Group and Gender 
 

 
 

The number of beneficiaries admitted to private hospitals, the number of admissions to private 
hospitals as well as the number of days admitted during the financial year concerned should be 
completed in this part. 
 
The number of beneficiaries admitted to private hospitals should be smaller than or equal to the 
(total number of beneficiaries in scheme as at 31 December OR average numbers of beneficiaries 
as at 31st December). The number of beneficiaries admitted to private hospitals should be smaller 
than or equal to the total number of admissions to private hospitals. 
 
The number of admissions to private hospitals should be smaller than or equal to the number of 
days admitted 
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Part 2.14 Utilisation of Public Hospitals by Age Group and Gender 
 

 
 

The number of beneficiaries admitted to public hospitals, the number of admissions to public 
hospitals as well as the number of days admitted during the financial year concerned should be 
completed in this part. 
 
The number of beneficiaries admitted to public hospitals should be smaller than or equal to the 
(total number of beneficiaries in scheme as at 31 December OR average numbers of beneficiaries 
as at 31st December). The number of beneficiaries admitted to public hospitals should be smaller 
than or equal to the total number of admissions to public hospitals. 
 
The number of admissions to public hospitals should be smaller than or equal to the number of 
days admitted 
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Part 2.15 Utilisation of Hospitals in respect of Selected Principal Diagnosis Types per 
ICD10 Codes 

 

 
 

The number of beneficiaries admitted to in respect of the selected principal diagnosis types per 
ICD10 codes, the number of admissions in respect of these selected principal diagnosis types per 
ICD10 codes, as well as the relevant number of days admitted during the financial year concerned 
should be completed in this part. 
 
The number of beneficiaries admitted in respect of the selected principal diagnosis types per 
ICD10 codes should be smaller than or equal to the (total number of beneficiaries in scheme as at 
31 December OR average numbers of beneficiaries as at 31st December). The number of 
beneficiaries admitted should be smaller than or equal to the total relevant number of admissions. 
 
The number of admissions in respect of the selected principal diagnosis types per ICD10 codes 
should be smaller than or equal to the number of days admitted 
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PART 3 BENEFIT INFORMATION 
 
Part 3.1 Analysis of Benefits Actually Paid During the Financial Year 
 

 
 

Amounts charged by supplier must always be bigger or equal to the aggregate risk amounts paid 
by the scheme, amounts paid from the savings accounts as well as amounts paid by the member. 
 
The risk amount paid by the scheme must reflect the net benefit after deduction of trade-, volume- 
and cash discount received.  
 
It should be noted that part 3.1.11 (risk amount paid by the scheme column) should agree with the 
total benefits in part 4.11.5 (actual net claims paid and reported) (Column B) plus 
4.13.1(consolidated total current year column). 
 

The amount paid by the member are all the out of pocket expenses incurred by the member which 
are known to the administrator. 
 
The scheme should capture any in-hospital managed care arrangements which are not provided 
for in the return in part 3.1.6.2.2.5, and any out-of-hospital managed care arrangements not 
provided for in the return in part 3.1.10.3. 
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Any other benefits not provided for in part 3.1 of the return should be completed in part 3.4, which 
pulls through to part 3.1.9, and the scheme should specify the specific benefit.  The scheme must 
please ensure that only benefits not referred to elsewhere in this part are listed in part 3.4.16. 
 
The scheme should provide the exact nature of any amounts included in parts 3.1.6.1.7, 
3.1.6.2.1.7, and 3.1.6.3.7 relating to other expenditure incurred in respect of unattached operating 
theatres/day clinics, private hospitals and state/provincial hospitals.  The scheme should only 
complete these parts if the return does not cater specifically for that kind of transaction elsewhere 
in part 3.1. 
Part 3.2.29 automatically pulls through to the total benefits for medical specialists (3.1.2) and part 
3.2.37 automatically pulls through to the total benefits for dental specialists pull automatically 
(3.1.4). Part 3.3.26 automatically pulls through to total benefits to Supplementary and Allied Health 
Professionals (part 3.1.5). 
 

Part 3.2 Analysis of Medical and Dental Specialists  
 

 
 

Amounts charged by supplier must always be bigger or equal to the aggregate risk amounts paid 
by the scheme, amounts paid from the savings accounts as well as amounts paid by the member. 
The amounts charged by supplier should include all cost (including medicine cost).  
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The risk amount paid by the scheme must reflect the net benefit after deduction of trade-, volume- 
and cash discount received.  
 
The amount paid by the member are all the out of pocket expenses incurred by the member which 
are known to the administrator. 
 
The scheme should capture any medical specialists that are not provided for in the return in part 
3.2.28, and the scheme should specify the specific medical specialist.  The scheme must please 
ensure that only medical specialists not referred to elsewhere in this part are listed in part 3.2.28. 
 

Part 3.3 Analysis of Allied and Support Health Professionals 
 

 
 

Amounts charged by supplier must always be bigger or equal to the aggregate risk amounts paid 
by the scheme, amounts paid from the savings accounts as well as amounts paid by the member. 
 
The risk amount paid by the scheme must reflect the net benefit after deduction of trade-, volume- 
and cash discount received.  
  

The amount paid by the member are all the out of pocket expenses incurred by the member which 
are known to the administrator. 
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The scheme should capture any Supplementary and Allied Health Professionals that are not 
provided for in the return in part 3.3.25, and the scheme should specify the specific Supplementary 
and Allied Health Professional.  The scheme must please ensure that only Supplementary and 
Allied Health Professional not referred to elsewhere in this part are listed in part 3.3.25. 
 

Part 3.4 Analysis of Other Benefits  
 

 
 

Amounts charged by supplier must always be bigger than or equal to the aggregate risk amounts 
paid by the scheme, amounts paid from the savings accounts as well as amounts paid by the 
member. 
 
The risk amount paid by the scheme must reflect the net benefit after deduction of trade-, volume- 
and cash discount received.  
 

The amount paid by the member are all the out of pocket expenses incurred by the member which 
are known to the administrator. 
 
The scheme should capture any other benefits that are not provided for in the return in part 3.4.16, 
and the scheme should specify the specific benefit.  The scheme must please ensure that only 
benefits not referred to elsewhere in this part are listed in part 3.4.16. 
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Part 3.5 Analysis of Total Benefits Paid in respect of Selected Principal Diagnosis 
Types per ICD10 Codes 

 

 
 

Amounts charged by supplier must always be bigger than or equal to the aggregate risk amounts 
paid by the scheme, amounts paid from the savings accounts as well as amounts paid by the 
member. 
 
The risk amount paid by the scheme must reflect the net benefit after deduction of trade-, volume- 
and cash discount received.  
 

The amount paid by the member are all the out of pocket expenses incurred by the member which 
are known to the administrator. 
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PART 4 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
Please note that when certain specifications are met, the user will be required to complete a 
reason box. The user will not be able to submit the return without completing the relevant reason 
boxes. 
 
Part 4.1 Property, Plant and Equipment 
 

 
 

The opening balances in lines 4.1.1.1.1 and 4.1.2.1.1 pulls through from lines 4.1.1.9 and 4.1.2.8 of 
the previous year‟s annual return respectively. 
 
A minus must be placed in front of all credit entries (i.e. disposals / impairment write down / 
accumulated depreciation). 
 
The total depreciation charges in part 4.1.2.2 must agree with the depreciation in part 4.16.14. 
 
Investment property should not be included in this part.  Land & buildings in this part only relates to 
owner-occupied assets.  Investment properties should be included in part 4.2.  
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All assets not specifically provided for in the column headings of part 4.1 (e.g. office equipment) 
should be aggregated and included in the „other‟ column provided. 
 
The scheme should provide the exact nature of any amounts included in parts 4.1.1.6 and 4.1.2.5. 
The scheme should only complete this part if the return does not cater specifically for that kind of 
transaction elsewhere in part 4.1. 
 

Part 4.2 Investments 
 

 
 

The investments should be split between non-current (long-term) investments and (current) short-
term investments, as per the audited financial statements of the scheme. Investments are 
considered to be current when it satisfies any of the following criteria: 

 It is expected to be realised in, or is intended for sale in, the scheme‟s normal operation cycle; 

 It is held primarily for the purpose of being traded; or 

 It is expected to be realised within 12 months after statement of financial position date. 
 
Every class of investments should be aggregated and disclosed in the line item provided for that 
specific class of investments. The scheme should provide the full details of any investments 
included in the „other‟ button in 4.2.5. 

 



HELP FILE: 2010 ANNUAL STATUTORY RETURN    

Page 53 of 132 

Part 4.3 Trade and Other Receivables 
 

Where a line starts with the word „Less‟, the scheme should place a minus in front of the figure. 
 

Part 4.3 (a) 
 

 
 

The scheme should provide a proper ageing of debtor balances, where required in the return. The 
scheme should not disclose the full debtor balance under one age category. 
 
Any advances on savings plan accounts should be shown separately as part of trade and other 
receivables (part 4.3.3); these balances should also be aged. 
 
The total advances on the savings plan accounts should agree with the savings plan advances 
disclosed in part 4.5.15(a). 
 
Risk transfer arrangements (4.3.4) are the sum of commercial reinsurance contracts (4.3.4.1) and 
other risk transfer arrangements (4.3.4.2). 
 
Commercial reinsurance contracts will constitute insurance contracts entered into with a long-term 
insurer registered in terms of section 9 of the Long-term Insurance Act, 1998 (Act No. 52 of 1998), 



HELP FILE: 2010 ANNUAL STATUTORY RETURN    

Page 54 of 132 

or a short-term insurer registered in terms of section 9 of the Short-term Insurance Act, 1998 (Act 
No. 53 of 1998).  
 

The share of outstanding claims provision covered by commercial reinsurance contracts (4.3.4.1.1) 
plus the share of claims reported not yet paid covered by commercial reinsurance contracts 
(4.3.4.1.2) must agree with the provision for reinsurance claims recovered in part 4.14.3. 4.3.4.1.1 
also has to agree to the closing balance of the “outstanding claims provision-covered by 
commercial reinsurance contracts” (4.9.8 Column C). 
 
Commercial reinsurance claims paid by the scheme but not yet recovered from the reinsurer 
should be included in part 4.3.4.1.2. 
 
A risk transfer asset is considered to be impaired when there is objective evidence, as a result of 
an event that occurred after initial recognition of the asset, that the scheme may not recover its full 
exposure in kind in terms of the contract, and that the event has a reliably measurable impact on 
the amounts that the scheme will now have to pay to the member. The provision for impaired 
losses in respect of commercial reinsurance contracts must be included in 4.3.4.1.3. 
 
Other risk transfer arrangements will constitute all “other” reinsurance contracts that fall within the 
definition of IFRS 4, for example a capitation agreement entered into with a managed healthcare 
provider. Please note that not all capitation agreements will fall within the definition of IFRS 4 by 
default. Each contract will have to be evaluated in terms of IFRS 4. (Also refer to Appendix IV of 
the 2010 SAICA Medical Schemes Accounting Guide (2010 SAICA Guide)) 
 
Depending on the tail of the specified benefits provided and the timing and accuracy of the 
information received from the managed healthcare provider regarding the specified benefits 
delivered before year end, the scheme should recognise an outstanding claims provision and an 
“other risk transfer” asset. This represents the scheme‟s best estimate of costs incurred and “costs” 
recovered in kind before year end, but not yet reported at the time.  
 
The share of outstanding claims provision covered by other risk transfer arrangements (4.3.4.2.1) 
should therefore agree with the closing balance of the “outstanding claims provision-covered by 
other risk transfer arrangements” (4.9.8 Column D). A risk transfer asset, under for example a 
capitation agreement, is considered to be impaired when there is objective evidence, as a result of 
an event that occurred after initial recognition of the asset, that the scheme may not recover its full 
exposure in kind in terms of the contract, and that the event has a reliably measurable impact on 
the amounts that the scheme will now have to pay to the member. The provision for impaired 
losses in respect of other risk transfer arrangements must be included in 4.3.4.2.3. 
 
The corresponding entries in respect of the share of claims reported not yet paid (both commercial 
reinsurance contracts (4.3.4.1.2) and other risk transfer arrangements (4.3.4.2.2) needs to be 
included in 4.8.1 (reported claims not yet paid).  
 
The scheme should provide the exact nature of any prepaid expenditure included in line 4.3.7.  
 
Accrued interest (part 4.3.9) should include all accrued interest, including those specified on the 
schemes‟ investment portfolios. 
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Al amounts owing by providers (i.e. overpayments made to providers), should be included in the 
provider balances line in part 4.3.11 of the return. 
 
The scheme should include any related party debit balances at year-end in 4.3.12.5 (unless the 
return provides for that related party in another specific line). These balances should correspond 
with the scheme‟s related party disclosure note in terms if IAS 24 in its audited financial 
statements. The nature of the related party relationship should also be indicated. 
 
The scheme should ensure that they disclose every debtor in the specific line provided for in part 
4.3.  Sundry debtors (4.3.13) should only be used if the return did not make provision for that 
specific debtor. 
 

The scheme should furthermore NOT aggregate all its sundry debtor balances together in one line 
item in sundry debtors (4.3.13). Any balance greater than 10% of the total trade and other 
receivables should be disclosed separately in part 4.3.13. 
 
Users are referred to the guidance provided in the 2010 SAICA Guide (paragraph 126 of the 
Accounting Guide) in respect of the recognition of Road Accident Fund (RAF) debtors. 
 

The following reason boxes might warrant completion (if the specifications are  met): 
 

Specification Reason box wording 

Contributions 
outstanding for 
more than 30 days 

Please indicate whether the scheme has any agreements in place with 
employers / members to pay their contributions after 3 days of it 
becoming due. 

Contributions 
outstanding for 
more than 30 days 

Please indicate the remedial actions taken by the scheme where 
contributions were received after three days of it becoming due 

4.3.12.1 > R0 What is the nature of/reasons for the amount owed by the 
administrator? 

4.3.12.2 > R0 What is the nature of/reasons for the amount owed by reinsurers (other 
than claims recoveries)? 

4.3.12.3 > R0 What is the nature of/reasons for the amount owed by managed care 
organisations (other than claims recoveries)? 

4.3.12.4 > R0 What is the nature of/reasons for the amount owed by brokers? 

4.3.12.5 > R0 What is the nature of/reasons for the amount owed by other related 
parties? 
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Part 4.3(b) 
 

 
 

In part 4.3(b) the scheme has to split out the movements in respect of risk transfer arrangements. 
These balances should correspond with the balances entered in part 4.3(a), and the movements in 
these balances between periods with the scheme‟s risk transfer arrangements (trade and other 
receivables) disclosure note in terms of IFRS 4 par.37(e) in its audited financial statements. 
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Part 4.4 Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
Any bank overdraft balances should not be netted off against positive bank balances in this part; 
bank overdrafts should be disclosed in part 4.8 (trade and other payables). 
 
Outstanding cheques are only disclosed in part 4.4.8 if it has not already been written back to trade 
and other payables (4.8).  If the outstanding cheques are included in cash and cash equivalents, it 
should be noted that 4.4.8 is only a disclosure item, to enable the Office to test the scheme‟s 
compliance with Regulation 30, read together with Annexure B. Line 4.4.7 should still agree with 
the scheme‟s audited cash and cash equivalents. 
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Part 4.5 Savings Plan Liability 
 

 
 

Where a line starts with the word „Less‟, the scheme should place a minus in front of the figure. 
 
The savings plan liability at the beginning of the year 4.5.1 as well as the opening advances on the 
savings plan account 4.5.3 is pulled through from the previous year‟s closing savings plan liability 
(4.5.16 in the previous year‟s annual return) and advances on the savings plan account (4.5.15 in 
the previous year‟s annual return). 
 
The savings contributions for the current year in part 4.5.5.1 pulls automatically through from part 
4.10.2. 
 
The interest paid on savings plan accounts in part 4.5.8 pulls automatically through from part 
4.22.2 (finance costs – interest paid on savings accounts). 
 
The claims paid on behalf of members in part 4.5.10 pulls automatically through from part 4.11.2 
(savings claims paid). 
 
Administration expenses in part 4.5.11 pulls automatically through from part 4.16.40 (administration 
expenses recoverable from savings plan accounts).  
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The scheme should provide the exact nature of any amounts included in line 4.5.13. The scheme 
should only complete this part if the return does not cater specifically for that kind of transaction 
elsewhere in part 4.5. 
 
It is very important to split the debit balances included in the savings plan liability from the credit 
balances.  These debit balances at year-end should be disclosed in part 4.5.15. 
 
The scheme is required to split the credit savings balance at year-end between current members 
and resigned members.  The scheme should further perform an ageing of the credit savings 
balances of resigned members between the balances younger than 6 months and the balances 
older than 6 months. 
 
Resigned members in the ageing should include members resigned from the scheme as well as 
members resigned from an option with savings to an option without savings within the scheme. 
 
Savings plan contributions are credited on the accrual basis and withdrawals on the cash basis, i.e. 
no provision is made for outstanding claims at the end of the accounting period.   
 
When certain specifications are met, the reason box needs to be completed: 
 

Specification Reason box wording 

Line 4.5.17.2.2 > 
R0 

What procedures are in place to follow-up on members that need to be 
refunded? 
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Part 4.6 Borrowings 
  

 
 

The scheme should split its borrowings between interest bearing borrowings and non-interest 
bearing borrowings.  The borrowings should further be split between current borrowings and non-
current borrowings. 
 
A liability shall be classified as current when it satisfies any of the following criteria: 

 It is expected to be settled in the scheme‟s normal operating cycle; 

 It is due to be settled within 12 months after the statement of financial position date; or 

 The scheme does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 
12 months after the statement of financial position date. 

 
Details of every borrowing should be provided in the description line provided (4.6.1); it should be 
noted that all the scheme‟s borrowings should not be aggregated and disclosed as a single line in 
part 4.6.1. 
 
In this regard it is important to note that section 35(6) (c) states that a medical scheme shall not 
directly or indirectly borrow money without the prior approval of the Council or subject to such 
directives as the Council may issue, this being the reason why further detail in respect of approval 
of the borrowings is requested in the reason box. 
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Part 4.7 Other Non-Current Liabilities 
 
Where a line starts with the word „Less‟, the scheme should place a minus in front of the figure. 
 
Details of every non-current liability should be provided in the description line provided (4.7.1); it 
should be noted that all the scheme‟s non-current liabilities should not be aggregated and 
disclosed as a single line in part 4.7.1. 
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Part 4.8 Trade and Other Payables 
 

 
 

4.8.1 (Reported claims not yet paid) should include all the scheme‟s claims creditors (including 
outstanding cheques relating to reported claims not yet paid that were written back to trade and 
other payables). It should be noted that the reported claims not yet paid must be equal to part 
4.11.1.3 (Direct benefits reported not yet paid) (Total column) and part 4.11.1.6 (Managed care: 
healthcare benefits reported not yet paid (no transfer of risk)) (Total column). 
 
All outstanding cheques relating to expenses other than claims that have been written back to 
trade and other payables should be included in other payables and accrued expenses (4.8.11). 
The nature of these expenses must also be included. 
 
Stale cheques are those long outstanding cheques that have not yet been cashed, but have also 
not yet prescribed. 
 
The scheme should include all related party credit balances at year-end in 4.8.6.5 (unless the 
return provides for that related party in another specific line). These balances should correspond 
with the scheme‟s related party disclosure note in terms if IAS 24 in its audited financial 
statements. The nature of the related party relationship should also be indicated. 
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The current portion of non-current borrowings and other non-current liabilities (4.8.7) pulls 
automatically through from parts 4.6.4 (Total of current borrowings) and 4.7.2 (Current portion 
included in current liabilities). 
 
It should be noted that all unallocated deposits should be disclosed separately in part 4.8.9 and 
should not be netted off against outstanding contributions in part 4.3.1 of the return. 
 
The scheme should ensure that they disclose every creditor in the specific line provided for.  Other 
payables and accrued expenses (4.8.11) should only be used if the return did not make provision 
for that specific creditor. 
 
The scheme should furthermore NOT aggregate all its sundry creditor balances together in one line 
item in other payables and accrued expenses (4.8.11).  Any balance greater than 10% of the total 
trade and other payables should be disclosed separately in part 4.8.11. 
 
It is important to note that the provision for outstanding claims is not included in this section, but 
disclosed in part 4.9. 
 
When certain specifications are met, the following reason boxes need to be completed: 
 

Specification Reason box wording 

Line 4.8.6.1 > (Line 
4.16.2  current year 
both columns / 12) 

What is the nature of/the reasons for the amount owed to the 
administrator? The amount owed is larger than the average fee per 
month. 

Line 4.8.6.3 > (- Line 
6.8.1 total column / 
12) 

What is the nature of/the reasons for the amount owed to brokers? The 
amount owed is larger than the average fee per month. 

If line 4.8.6.4 > ((- 
Line 6.7 total column 
+ line 4.13.1) 
consolidated total / 
12) 

What is the nature of/the reasons for the amount owed to managed 
care organisations? The amount owed is larger than the average fee 
per month. 

If 4.8.8 > (4.8.14 x 
10%) 

Part 4.8: What is the nature of/the reasons for the amount owed to 
members in line 4.8.8? 

Line 4.8.9 > (Line 6.1 
total column / 12) 

What is the nature of/the reasons for the unallocated deposits? The 
amount owed is larger than the average gross contributions per month. 

Third party 
administered scheme 
and line 4.8.10 > R0 

In respect of which employees are the post retirement benefits due? 

If lines 4.8.5 + 4.8.7 > 
R0 

Please indicate whether the scheme obtained approval from Council to 
directly or indirectly borrow money, as is required by section 35(6)(c) of 
the Medical Schemes Act. 

 
Please note that the queries raised in this part are linked to other parts in the return. After 
completing the return in full it will be necessary to return to this part, and address the queries.  
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Part 4.9 Outstanding Claims Provision 
 

 
 

Where a line starts with the word „Less‟, the scheme should place a minus in front of the figure. 
 
The outstanding claims provision (total) (column A) consists out of the following categories: 
a) Outstanding claims provision (not covered by risk transfer arrangements) (column B) 
b) Outstanding claims provision (covered by commercial reinsurance contracts) (column C) 
c) Outstanding claims provision (covered by other risk transfer arrangements) (column D) 
 
Please refer to explanation provided in 4.3(a) in respect of other risk transfer arrangements. Also 
refer to the 2010 SAICA Guide for further details. 
 
The balance at the beginning of the year as previously reported (4.9.1.1) (columns A - D) pulls 
automatically through from the closing balance per the previous year‟s return in part 4.9.8. 
Any prior year adjustments should be reflected in part 4.9.1.2 (prior year adjustment). 
 
The outstanding claims provision at the end of the year (covered by commercial reinsurance 
contracts) (column C) must agree with part 4.3.4.1.1 (a) (commercial reinsurance contracts: share 
of outstanding claims provision). 
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The outstanding claims provision at the end of the year (covered by other risk transfer 
arrangements) (column D) must agree with part 4.3.4.2.1 (a) (other risk transfer arrangements: 
share of outstanding claims provision). 
 
The scheme should at all times be able to explain any over or under provision of the prior year‟s 
outstanding claims provision. The reason box will require further details in respect of over/under 
provisions greater than 10% of the previous year‟s provision. 
 
The liability adequacy test (LAT) provision adjustment in line 4.9.5 should be made in terms of 
IFRS 4. (Please refer to guidance provided in the 2010 SAICA Guide.) 
 

The provision is net of estimated recoveries from members for co-payments and savings plan 
accounts.  Thus, the provision is only calculated on the claims that the scheme has a liability to pay 
for. It should further be noted that the totals per line 4.9.8.5 should agree with the totals in line 
4.9.8. 
 

Part 4.10 Gross Contributions 
 

 
 

Where a line starts with the word „Less‟, the scheme should place a minus in front of the figure. 
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Gross contributions are the amounts incurred by members, in terms of the registered rules of the 
scheme, for the purchase of healthcare benefits. Gross contributions include savings plan 
contributions. Therefore, any subsidies received from an employer, over and above the 
contributions per the registered rules of the scheme should not form part of gross contribution 
income.  These subsidies should be disclosed in other income in parts 6.17 and 4.23.31 of the 
return. 
 
Also, important to note that any prescribed unallocated deposits should also not form part of gross 
contribution income; as these amounts are not in line with the scheme‟s current year‟s registered 
contribution table.  Any prescribed unallocated deposits should be disclosed in other income in 
parts 6.17 and 4.23.31 of the return. 
 
Any contributions written off, which is not recoverable, should not be deducted from gross 
contributions; any write-offs of contribution income should form part of impairment losses: Trade 
and other receivables in parts 6.9.10 and 4.23.24 of the return. 
 
Contributions are recognised in the accounting period to which the related risks refer. For this 
reason, any unpaid contributions at the end of the accounting period are reflected as current 
assets, and any contributions received in advance are reflected as current liabilities.  These 
amounts are disclosed separately in trade and other receivables (part 4.3) or trade and other 
payables (part 4.8). 
 

Services contracted to manage claim costs are neither deducted from gross contributions, nor 
included in claims costs, but are included in managed care: management services expenses (part 
4.12). 
 
In accordance with sections 26(1)(c) and 26(4) of the Act, a scheme is not allowed to collect fees 
payable by a member to a third party, e.g. a funeral fund/wellness programmes on behalf of that 
third party.  Therefore, gross contributions should not include any such fees. Should any fees of 
this nature exist, it should be disclosed as a liability in part 4.8 of the return. 
 
Schemes will be required to provide more details if no gross contributions were accrued during the 
year. 
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Part 4.11 Relevant Healthcare Expenditure 
 

 
 

Where a line starts with the word „Less‟, the scheme should place a minus in front of the figure. 
 
Total (Column A) 
 
4.11.1.4 - (Total column) Managed care: healthcare benefits for the period (no risk transfer) + 
4.11.1.5 - Managed care: healthcare benefits for the previous period (no risk transfer) + 4.11.1.6 - 
Managed care: healthcare benefits reported not yet paid (no transfer of risk) + 4.13.1 - 
Premiums/fees paid (Capitation fees) (consolidated total current year) should be greater than or 
equal to 3.1.6.2.2.6 (risk amount paid by scheme column + savings amount paid by scheme on 
behalf of member + discount received columns) - Sub total of managed care arrangements (in 
hospital benefits) + 3.1.10.4 (risk amount paid by scheme column + savings amount paid by 
scheme on behalf of member + discount received columns) - Total managed care arrangements 
(out of hospital benefits). 
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Net relevant healthcare expenditure incurred in respect of risk carried by the scheme 
(including claims incurred in respect of commercial reinsurance contracts) (Column B) 
 
Gross claims paid and reported  
Total costs of settling all claims (before deducting claims paid from savings accounts) arising from 
healthcare events that have occurred in the period and those that have occurred previously (gross 
claims reported), and for which no provision was made, including costs for managed care: 
healthcare services (no transfer of risk). 
 
The direct benefits reported not yet paid in line 4.11.1.3 should be greater or equal to the share of 
claims reported not yet paid in line 4.3.4.1.2. 
 
Managed Care: Healthcare Benefits (no transfer of risk) 
The cost of healthcare services under payment systems, such as capitation fees (healthcare 
services purchased), emergency services and disease management (where healthcare service 
benefits are included in the contract). However, amounts should only be included in 4.11.1.4, 
4.11.1.5 and 4.11.1.6 if there was no transfer of risk from the scheme to the managed healthcare 
provider in terms of IFRS 4. 
 
Claims incurred exclude payments made to third parties contracted to provide cost containment 
processes, such as specialist and hospital referrals, case management, peer reviews, claims 
audits, statistical analysis, and disease management (where healthcare service benefits are not 
included in the contract), as it constitutes managed care: management service expenses. These 
costs are disclosed in part 4.12 of the return. 
 
The completion of line 4.11.1.5 is tested against the answer obtained in part 1.4 question 6b. 
 
Services provided to members in own facilities 
Line 4.11.1.7 should be greater than zero when there is a value in line 4.21.3. 
 
Net claims incurred 
Claims assessed, accrued and paid for services rendered during the accounting period and for 
services rendered during the previous accounting period not included in the previous period‟s 
outstanding claims provision, net of recoveries from members for co-payments and savings plan 
accounts and discounts received. 
 
The savings claims paid in part 4.11.2 automatically pulls through from the total benefits in part 
3.1.11 (total savings amount paid by scheme on behalf of member column). 
 
Trade -, volume-, cash discounts and rebates received on claims pulls through from part 3.1.11 
(Total Benefits (Discount Received)).   
 
Provision for outstanding claims  
The provision for outstanding claims at the end of the financial year in part 4.11.6 (column B) 
automatically pulls through from part 4.9.8 ((column B) (outstanding claims provision not covered 
by risk transfer arrangements) + (column C) (outstanding claims provision covered by commercial 
reinsurance contracts at end of year)). 
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The provision for outstanding claims at the end of the previous financial year in part 4.11.7 
(column B) automatically pulls through from 4.9.1 ((column B) outstanding claims provision not 
covered by risk transfer arrangements + (column C) (outstanding claims provision covered by 
commercial reinsurance contracts at end of year)). 
 
It should be noted that the value in 4.11.5 (actual net claims paid and reported) (Column B) plus 
4.13.1 (premiums/fees paid) (consolidated total current year column) should agree to the total 
benefits in part 3.1.11 (risk amount paid by the scheme column). 
 
Net relevant healthcare expenditure incurred in respect of related risk transfer 
arrangements (excluding claims incurred in respect of commercial reinsurance contracts) 
(Column C) 
 
Please note that this part must only be completed if the risk transfer arrangement (capitation 
agreement) meets the definition of a reinsurance contract in terms of IFRS 4. IFRS 4 requires the 
scheme to assess each contract separately to determine whether there is a significant transfer of 
insurance risk. 

 
In the event that a capitation agreement meets the definition of a reinsurance agreement, IFRS 4 
states that an insurer shall not offset risk transfer assets against the related insurance liabilities or 
income or expense from risk transfer arrangements against the expense or income from the related 
insurance contracts. 
 
The cost that the scheme would have incurred (had it not entered into the capitation agreement) to 
deliver the specified benefits represents the scheme‟s exposure to its member (as the capitation 
agreement cannot absolve a medical scheme from its responsibility towards its members). These 
“costs” have to be disclosed in 4.11.1.1 and/or 4.11.1.2 and/or 4.11.1.3 as claims incurred from 
insurance contracts. The claims included in these parts should also include claims that have been 
incurred but not yet reported. (Please refer to 2010 SAICA Guide Appendix IV.) There is a 
validation rule testing that when the scheme had an outstanding claims provision in line 4.11.7, line 
4.11.1.2 should have a value greater than zero.  
 
The cost that the scheme would have incurred (had it not entered into the capitation agreement) to 
deliver the specified benefits represents the scheme‟s recovery in kind from the managed 
healthcare provider. This recovery in kind of cost incurred has to be disclosed as recoveries from 
risk transfer arrangements (4.13.2). The recovery included in part 4.13.2 must also include the 
recovery in respect of the risk transfer asset raised at year end. 
 
Please take note that the above estimate claims incurred and estimated claims recoveries may not 
be offset. 
 
The direct benefits reported not yet paid in line 4.11.1.3 should be equal to the share of claims 
reported not yet paid in line 4.3.4.12.2. 
 
As amounts should only be included in 4.11.1.4, 4.11.1.5 and 4.11.1.6 if there was no transfer of 
risk from the scheme to the managed healthcare provider in terms of IFRS 4, these fields are fixed 
as zeros in column C. 
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Similarly are lines 4.11.2 (savings plan claims paid) and 4.11.3 (discount received on claims) also 
fixed as zeros. 
 
The provision for outstanding claims at the end of the financial year in part 4.11.6 (column C) 
automatically pulls through from part 4.9.8 (column D) (outstanding claims provision covered by 
other risk transfer arrangements).  
 
The provision for outstanding claims at the end of the previous financial year in part 4.11.7 (column 
C) automatically pulls through from 4.9.1 (column D) (outstanding claims provision covered by 
other risk transfer arrangements).  
 
Part 4.11.9 (net (income)/expense from other risk transfer arrangements) column C (net claims 
incurred in respect of related risk transfer arrangements (excluding claims incurred in respect of 
commercial reinsurance contracts) automatically pulls through from part 4.13.4 
(net (income)/expense from other risk transfer arrangements- consolidated total current year 
column). Part 4.11.9 column B is a fixed zero field. 
 
Part 4.12 Managed Care: Management Services 
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Managed health care means clinical and financial risk assessment and management of healthcare, 
with a view to facilitating appropriateness and cost–effectiveness of relevant health services within 
the constraints of what is affordable, through the use of rules-based and clinical management-
based programs.  
 
Managed care: management services is therefore the cost of managing healthcare expenditure, 
such as bill review, specialist and hospital referrals, case management, disease management 
(where healthcare benefits are not included in the contract), peer review, claims audits and 
statistical analysis. It does not include the cost of any relevant healthcare services. 
   
Managed care: management services expenses are disclosed, showing separately internal 
expenditure (incurred by the administrator) and outsourcing costs (services delivered by third 
parties). The expenses should be allocated per party. The names of the third party contracts will be 
pulled through from the detail supplied in part 1.4, question 6(a). 
 
The scheme should ensure that they disclose every managed care: management service in the 
specific line provided for.  The other line (4.12.29) should only be used if the return did not make 
provision for a specific managed care: management service. 
 
The scheme should not aggregate all its managed care: management services together in one line 
item in the other box provided in part 4.12.29; a detailed split of all services received should be 
provided. Further detail will be required by way of a reason box if an aggregate amount is entered 
in this line. 
 
Users are also referred to circular 49 of 2007 “Financial reporting by accredited managed care 
arrangements” in which managed care organisations are instructed to supply schemes with a 
breakdown of the fee over the various services performed. 
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Part 4.13 Net (income)/expenses from other risk transfer arrangements (excluding 
commercial reinsurance contracts) 

 
This part should be completed per contract (“other” risk transfer arrangement-`capitation 
agreement). The names of the various contracts for both the current and previous financial years 
will be pulled through from the detail completed in part 1.4, question 6(c). 
 

 
 
Important to note that this part should only be completed if the capitation agreement meets the 
definition of a reinsurance contract in terms of IFRS 4. IFRS 4 requires the scheme to assess each 
contract separately to determine whether there is a significant transfer of insurance risk. For 
additional guidance on risk transfer arrangements, please refer the 2010 SAICA Guide. 
 

The premiums/fees paid (capitation fees) should be captured in part 4.13.1. The estimated claim 
recovery (as explained in part 4.11 under net claims in respect of related risk transfer 
arrangements) should be captured in part 4.13.2.  Please note that this figure should be a negative 
figure, as claims recoveries is a credit balance.   
 
Any other transactions not provided for in part 4.13.1 and part 4.13.2 should be captured in part 
4.13.3 (other).  The details of these transactions should be provided. 
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It should also be noted that where a risk transfer arrangement includes a portion of administration 
fees (i.e. a call centre of nurse line), the capitation fees should be split between the administration 
portion and the risk transfer portion.  The administration portion should be included in either part 
4.12 or part 4.16 of the return, where ever it is the most applicable. 
 
It should further be noted that Part 4.13.2 (Less: Claims recoveries in respect of related risk 
transfer arrangements consolidated total current year column) should agree with: 

 the sum of Part 4.11.1.1 to 4.11.1.3 (Column C: direct benefits in respect of related risk 
transfer arrangements (excluding claims incurred in respect of commercial reinsurance 
contracts)); and 

 plus the difference movement in the provision for outstanding claims in respect of related risk 
transfer arrangements (excluding claims incurred in respect of commercial reinsurance 
contracts) in lines 4.11.6 and 4.11.7 (Column C). 

 
When certain specifications are met, the following reason box needs to be completed: 
 

Specification Reason box wording 

(Consolidated total 
current year lines 
4.13.1 + 
4.13.2)/Consolidated 
total current year line 
4.13.1 > 50% or if < 
50% 

Please provide the basis for the calculation of the estimated claims 
recoveries in respect of related risk transfer arrangements, 
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Part 4.14 Net income/ (expenses) from risk transfer arrangements: commercial 
reinsurance contracts 

 
This part should be completed per reinsurance contract. The names of the various contracts will be 
pulled through from the detail completed in part 1.4, question 6(d). 
 

 
 
A reinsurance contract is defined by IFRS 4 as an insurance contract issued by one insurer (the 
reinsurer) to compensate another insurer (the cedant) for losses on one or more contracts issued 
by the cedant. Contracts which meet the definition of reinsurance contracts in IFRS 4 are referred 
to as risk transfer arrangements in the 2010 SAICA Guide. Income and expenses relating to risk 
transfer arrangements are disclosed separately in the statement of comprehensive income. 
 
A medical scheme may also enter into commercial reinsurance contracts, in terms of which it 
transfers some or all of its risk to a legally registered reinsurer. In this instance the reinsurer will 
compensate the medical scheme in cash for losses incurred. 
 
It should be noted that all reinsurance contracts should be submitted to the Registrar in terms of 
section 20(3) of the Act. 
 
Prepaid re-insurance premiums are included in current assets in part 4.3 of the return. 
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Profit/ (loss) on a commercial reinsurance arrangements (4.14.4) should be recognised either as a 
debtor or creditor over the period of risk covered by the policy that covers a period for more than 
one year.  Please note that this is not the difference between the claims recovered and the 
premiums paid, but the profit/ (loss) share in terms of the commercial reinsurance contract.   
 
The commissions on commercial reinsurance arrangements (4.14.5) and discounts received 
(4.14.6) are as specified in the actual commercial reinsurance contract. 
 
Please note that all expenses in respect of commercial reinsurance contracts must be captured as 
a negative amount and all income in respect of commercial reinsurance contracts as a positive 
amount. 

 
Part 4.15(a)  Broker service fees 
 

 
 

A scheme may compensate a person, in accordance with its rules and the provisions of the Act 
and the regulations, for services provided to the scheme‟s members. Broker service fees usually 
accrue and are paid on a monthly basis as contributions are received. Amounts paid and payable 
for broker services comprise fees paid to brokers for new contracts initiated by the brokers 
“ongoing fees” in respect of current contracts. Acquisition costs are the costs that an insurer incurs 
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to sell, underwrite and initiate a new insurance contract. Consideration should be given to related 
party relationships in transactions relating to brokers. 
 

When certain specifications are met, the following reason boxes need to be completed: 
 

Specification Reason box wording 

4.15.3/12/2.2.13 
(Members)) > R74.84 

Why does the broker fee per average member per month exceed the 
statutory limit of R74.84? 

4.15.3 > (4.10.1 x 
3.42%) 

Why do the broker fees exceed the statutory limit of 3.42% of gross 
contributions? 

 
Part 4.15(b)  Other distribution costs 
 

 
 

Distribution costs that are incurred under co-administration or other arrangements are included 
under administration expenses in the statement of comprehensive income and are separately 
disclosed in the notes, unless those fees are paid to brokers. Where those distribution fees are 
paid to brokers, they are included as part of brokers‟ service fees. 
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The scheme should ensure that an accurate split between broker fees and distribution costs are 
made between part 4.15(a) and part 4.15. (b). The scheme should furthermore ensure no 
distribution costs are included in part 4.16 (administration expenses). 
 
Distribution costs do not include marketing and advertising expenses unless those expenses are 
paid to brokers.  Marketing and advertising costs are included in part 4.16.22 and part 4.16.3 
respectively. 
 
Consideration should be given to related party relationships and transactions relating to brokers 
fees and distribution costs.  These transactions should correspond with the scheme‟s related party 
disclosure note in terms if IAS 24 in its audited financial statements. 
 
The scheme should specify the distribution costs in part 4.15.2 per individual party; all distribution 
costs should not be aggregated and disclosed as one line item in part 4.15.2. 
 

Part 4.16 Administration Expenses 
 

 
 

Where a line starts with the word „Less‟, the scheme should place a minus in front of the figure. 
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The previous year‟s amounts are automatically pulled through from the previous year‟s return. The 
“Unlock previous year amounts” button allows the scheme to make adjustments to these figures if 
needs be. 
 
The scheme should ensure that they disclose every expense in the specific line provided for in part 
4.16 of the return.  Other administration expenses (4.16.39) should only be used if the return did 
not make provision for that specific expense. 
 
 
Association fees (4.16.5) relate to fees paid to non-professional organisations, e.g. BHF 
membership etc.  
 
The audit committee fees (4.16.6.3) should include all audit committee fees (i.e. fees paid to non-
executive audit committee members); this line does not only refer to specific audit expenses 
incurred by the auditor. 
 
Consultancy fees (4.16.11) are those fees paid where the board of trustees obtained expert advice 
on legal, accounting and/or any other business matter of which the members of the board of 
trustees may lack sufficient expertise. 
 
Council for Medical Schemes expenses (4.16.12) are any other fees paid to the Council for Medical 
Schemes such as rule registration fees etc. It also includes membership levies paid to the Council 
for Medical Schemes. Penalties incurred should however not be included in this line, but in line 
4.16.26. 
 
The depreciation included in part 4.16.14 should agree with the total depreciation charges included 
in part 4.1.2.2. 
 

In the event that the scheme has not incurred any expenses in respect of fidelity guarantee 
insurance fees (4.16.17) or professional indemnity insurance premiums (4.16.32), the scheme will 
be required to complete a reason box, indicating the reasons for not incurring the said expenditure 
(non-compliance with the requirements imposed by section 57(4)(f)). 
 
Investigation fees (4.16.20) will include any special investigations initiated by the scheme (including 
fraud investigations). 
 
Please note that marketing (4.16.22) and advertising (4.16.3) expenses exclude fees paid to 
brokers as well as any distribution costs, which are disclosed under part 4.15 of the return. 

 
Principal Officer fees and remuneration (4.16.28) should include all fees and remuneration paid to 
the Principal Officer, which is regarded as remuneration for his own benefit.  
 
Principal Officer travel and other expenses incurred (4.16.29) should include all fees paid to the 
Principal Officer in terms of where the Principal Officer were reimbursed for expenses incurred that 
did not form part of his remuneration/fees. This also includes fees paid on behalf of the Principal 
Officer (e.g. travelling, accommodation etc.). 
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Please note that penalties in part 4.16.26 should include those penalties paid to the Registrar. 
 
Professional fees (4.16.31) relate to membership fees paid to associations in respect of individuals 
(i.e. accountants, nurses, doctors etc.). 
 
Travel, accommodation and conferences (4.16.36) should include all cost incurred in respect of 
travel, accommodation and conferences. However, these costs should exclude the cost incurred 
with regards to the Principal Officer and trustees, which should be included in 4.16.29 and 4.16.37 
respectively.  
 
The trustee remuneration expenses in part 4.16.37 pulls automatically through from part 4.17. 
 
The scheme should not aggregate all its other administration expenses together in one line item in 
part 4.16.39. Every expense greater than 10% of the total administration expenses should be 
disclosed separately in part 4.16.39. 
 
Where a scheme received a subsidy or refund from any third party for administration expenses 
incurred by the scheme, those subsidies should not be included in part 4.16.39.  Any such 
subsidies should be included in „other income‟ in part 6.17 of the return.  The Office wants to see 
the total costs to administer the scheme in part 4.16. 
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Part 4.17 Trustee Remuneration and Considerations 
 

 
 

Please note that the names of the trustees automatically pull through from part 1.3. This would 
encompass the names of all the trustees that were trustees during the financial year, including 
those trustees that have resigned within the financial year. Trustees appointed in the new financial 
year (effective 1 January 2011), will not be reflected.  
 
Per section 57(8) of the Medical schemes Act 131 of 1998 as amended, the members of the board 
of trustees shall disclose annually in writing to the Registrar any payment or considerations made 
to them in that particular year by the medical scheme. Therefore all scheme expenditure relating to 
trustees must be disclosed per trustee member in this section, and not only trustee remuneration. 
The scheme should also ensure the correct disclosure of fees received by the trustees in respect of 
services rendered to related parties (i.e. subsidiaries, joint ventures, associates and significant 
control) to the scheme. 
 
The scheme should further ensure that an accurate split is made between the different kinds of 
payments made in respect of the trustees, as requested in the return.  
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Part 4.18 Provision for impaired losses at year-end 
 

 
 

Part 4.18 requires a reconciliation of the provision for impaired losses for the year (columns A to E) 
and a breakdown of the amount recognised in the statement of comprehensive income 
(columns B, C, and F to H). 
 
The columns should therefore be completed as follows: 
 
Column A: Positive amount – This represents the balance of the provision for impaired losses at 
the beginning of the year 
Column B: Negative amount – This represent unused provisions reversed during the year to the 
statement of comprehensive income. 
Column C: Positive amount – This represent additional provisions that were made during the year. 
Column D: Negative Amount – This represent provisions utilised during the year (amounts written 
off directly against the provision). 
Column E: Positive amount – This represents the balance of the provision for impaired losses at 
year-end. 
Column F: Positive amount – This represent impaired losses that were recognised directly in the 
statement of comprehensive income, and not against the provision. 
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Column G: Negative amount – This column represents previous impairment losses that were 
recovered. 
Column H: This constitutes the net effect in the statement of comprehensive income, and can 
therefore be either positive or negative, depending on the nature of the transaction flows.  
 
The amount per part 4.18.6 (Total) (column E) must agree with part 4.3.4.1.3 (provision for 
impaired losses at year end – commercial reinsurance contracts) plus part 4.3.4.2.3 (provision for 
impaired losses at year end - other risk transfer arrangements) plus part 4.3.14 (provision for 
impaired losses at year end (excluding risk transfer arrangements)). 
 
The amount per part 4.18.6 (Total) (column H) must agree with the sum of part 4.23.24 
(consolidated column – Net impairment losses: Trade and other receivables) and part 4.23.26 
(consolidated column - Net impairment losses: Other). 
 
Any other transactions not specifically provided for in part 4.18 should be captured in part 4.18.5 
(other), such as impairment losses on risk transfer arrangements. Thus, the movement in the 
provision for impaired losses relating to risk transfer arrangements (please refer to 4.3.4.1.3 and 
4.3.4.2.3) should also be included in 4.18.5 (other). 
  
Please note that the value calculated in column E (Provision for impaired losses at year-end) is the 
sum of columns A to D. The value of column H (Total movement in statement of comprehensive 
income for the year) is calculated as the sum of columns B, C, F and G. 
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Example: 
 
2009 
 
Debtor X had an outstanding balance of R1 000 at 31 December 2009. 
-  A provision for impaired losses in respect of debtor X was raised at 31 December 2009 of 

R600.  
The scheme‟s total provision for impaired losses at 31 December 2009 was R5 000.  

- R1 000 of this provision was in respect of debtor Y. (Amounts owed in respect of member's 
portions of claims that are not recoverable). 

- R3 400 was in respect of amounts owed by service providers that are not recoverable. 
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2010 
 
1. During the 2010 financial year debtor X was liquidated and the total amount of R1 000 was 

written off.   

- The amount of R600 included in the provision for impairment losses at 31 December 2009 was 
written off directly against debtor X‟s account (Dt Provision for impaired losses R600, 
Ct Debtors R600).  

- The additional R400 was written off in the statement of comprehensive income in the 
2010 financial year (Dt I/S R400, Ct Debtors 400).  
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2. The scheme recovered an amount of R300 in the 2010 financial year in respect of amounts 
previously written off (Dt Bank R300, Ct I/S R300) (Amounts owed by service providers that 
are not recoverable).  
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Debtor Y‟s repayment of debt improved substantially during the year, and the provision of R1 000 
was written back (Dt Provision for impaired losses R1 000, Ct I/S R1 000). 
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3. During the 2010 financial year an additional provision in respect of the scheme‟s debtors 
(excluding debtors X and Y) of R1 500 was raised  
(Dt I/S R1 500, Ct Provision for impaired losses R1 500).  

 

 
 
The transactions will have to be included in the return as follows: 
 
Column A:  R5 000 (balance at beginning of year) 
Column B:  -R1 000 (debtor Y‟s unused amount reversed) 
Column C:  R1 500 (additional provision during the year) 
Column D: -R600 (debtor X amount utilised during the year) 
Column E:  R5 000 – R1 000 + R1 500 – R600 = R4 900 (balance at end of year) 
Column F:  R400 (Debtor X‟s amount written off directly in the statement of comprehensive 

income) 
Column G: -R300 (previous impairment losses recovered) 
Column H:  -R1 000 + R1 500 + R400 – R300 = R600 (net effect in statement of 

comprehensive income) 
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Part 4.19 Other Investment Income 
 

 
 

Please note that any fees paid to asset managers should be disclosed separately in part 6.14 
(investment management fees).  
 
Furthermore, the direct operating expenses on rental of investment property should also be 
included in part 6.15. 

 
Important to note that realised gains/ (losses) on the disposal of investments should not form part 
of other investment income; all realised gains/ (loses) should be included in part 4.20. 
 
For purposes of the return, please note that interest received on bank accounts should be included 
in part 4.19 (other investment income) and not part 6.17 (other income). 

 
Important to note that any interest paid  by the scheme on borrowings or credit balances as well as 
interest paid on savings plan accounts are disclosed as part of finance costs in part 4.22, and 
should not be deducted from investment income. 
 
The scheme should furthermore not aggregate all its investment income in one line item in 
part 4.19.2. The scheme should ensure that they disclose every type of investment income 
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separately in the specific line provided for in part 4.19.  Other investment income (4.19.2) should 
only be used if the return does not make provision for that type of investment income. 
 

Part 4.20 Other Realised and Unrealised Gains/ (Losses) 
 

 
 

Net gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of investments held at fair value 
through profit or loss are included in the income statement in the period in which they arise.  
Unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of the available-for-sale 
investments are included in the available-for-sale reserve and statement of other comprehensive 
income.  Once an available-for-sale investment is sold, the realised fair value gain or loss on the 
changes in the fair value of the available-for-sale investments is included in the income statement.  
 
Only the movement through the income statement is accounted for in this part. 
 
The scheme should furthermore not aggregate all its realised and unrealised gains and losses in 
one line item in part 4.20.6. The scheme should ensure that they individually disclose all realised 
and unrealised gains and losses in the specific line provided for in part 4.20.  Other (4.20.6) should 
only be used if the return does not make provision for that type of realised and unrealised gains 
and losses. 
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Part 4.21 Own Facility Surplus/ (Deficit) 
 

 
 

Where a line starts with the word „Less‟, the scheme should place a minus in front of the figure. 
 
Total cost incurred in operating own facilities 
Costs incurred by the healthcare funder in operating its own medical equipment, hospital, clinic, 
pathology laboratory and radiology facility or any other related service on behalf of members. 
 
4.21.1 (Income from services rendered to third parties) arises from making the scheme‟s own 
facilities available and rendering services to third parties, and is recognised on an accrual basis. 
This will not include any income from the scheme‟s members; only the non-related contributions 
income and claims expenditure are disclosed as part of own facility surplus or deficit. 
 
The claims related expenditure paid on behalf of the scheme‟s members is shown as part of claims 
incurred, and the contributions received are disclosed as part of gross contributions. Hence, the 
cost of services provided to members included in net claims incurred (4.21.2.5) automatically pulls 
through from part 4.11.1.7 (Services provided to members in own facilities (column A)).  
The scheme should disclose the total costs of operating the own facility in part 4.21.2 (and not only 
those costs that relate to services rendered to third parties). The total cost incurred in operating 
own facility (4.21.2) consists of the sum of the following costs: 
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 4.21.2.1 – total healthcare provider costs 

 4.21.2.2 – changes in inventories 

 4.21.2.3 – administrative expenditure 

 4.21.2.4 – other costs incurred in operating own facility 
 
The administrative expenditure incurred in operating the own facility in part 4.21.2.3 automatically 
pulls through from part 4.16.40 (current year: own facility column). Please note that although it is 
shown as part of administration expenses in part 4.16, it will not be included in the statement of 
comprehensive income as part of the administration expense, but as part of the own facility 
surplus/ (deficit) in line 6.18. 
 

Part 4.22 Finance Costs 
 

 
 

When considered to be material, finance costs are disclosed separately on the face of the 
statement of comprehensive income, and does not form part of investment income. 
 
Finance costs include interest paid on savings plan accounts, and should not be netted off against 
interest received on savings plan accounts. 
 



HELP FILE: 2010 ANNUAL STATUTORY RETURN    

Page 92 of 132 

The scheme should not aggregate all its finance costs in one line item in part 4.22.3. The scheme 
should ensure that they disclose every type of finance costs separately in the specific line provided 
for in part 4.22.  Other finance costs (4.22.3) should only be used if the return did not make 
provision for that type of finance cost. 
 
Part 4.23 Net Surplus/ (Deficit) per Benefit Option 
 

 
 

The option names captured in part 1.2 automatically pulls through to part 4.23. 
 
Where a line starts with the word „Less‟, the scheme should place a minus in front of the figure. 
 
The results of each benefit option under a medical scheme are to be separately disclosed, and the 
accounting records are to be maintained in such a way that the financial results for each benefit 
option can be determined.   
 
The other column provided should be used to capture any transactions in this financial year which 
relates to options that were discontinued at the beginning of the financial year, for which the 
scheme incurred some expenses or received some income. 
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Any other transactions not provided for in part 4.23.17.1 and part 4.23.17.2 should be captured in 
part 4.23.17.3 (other).  The details of these transactions should be provided. 
 
Details (per nature of transaction) of the following income and expenses should also be provided in 
the different parts: 

 Net impairment losses: Other (4.23.26) 

 Other income (4.23.31) 

 Other expenses (4.23.33) 
 
The consolidated column (the sum of the individual option results) in part 4.23 should agree on a 
line by line basis to the individual amounts in the income statement. 
 
The consolidated column‟s lines should also agree to the following parts: 
 

Consolidated Column 
Line 

Should agree to part 

4.23.1 4.10.1 - Gross contribution income 

4.23.2 4.10.2 - Less: Savings plan account contribution income 

4.23.4.1  4.11.1.1- Direct benefits for the period (Column B) 

4.23.4.2  4.11.1.2- Direct benefits for the previous period (Column B) 

4.23.4.3  4.11.1.3 - Direct benefits reported not yet paid (Column B) 

4.23.4.4 4.11.1.4 - Managed care: healthcare benefits for the period (no 
transfer of risk) (Total) 

4.23.4.5 4.11.1.5 - Managed care: healthcare benefits for the previous period 
(no transfer of risk) (Total) 

4.23.4.6 4.11.1.6 - Managed care: healthcare benefits reported not yet paid 
(no transfer of risk) (Total) 

4.23.4.7 4.11.1.7 - Services provided to members in own facilities (Total) 

4.23.5 4.11.2 Less: Savings plan claims paid (Total) 

4.23.6   4.11.3 - Less: Discount received on claims (Total) 

4.23.7 4.11.4 - Less: Claims recoveries from third parties (Total) 

4.23.9 4.11.6 - Provision for outstanding claims at the end of the financial 
year (Column B) 

4.23.10 4.11.7 - Provision for outstanding claims at end of the previous year 
(Column B) 

4.23.12.1 4.11.1.1- Direct benefits for the period (Column C) 

4.23.12.2 4.11.1.2- Direct benefits for the previous period (Column C) 

4.23.12.3 4.11.1.3 - Direct benefits reported not yet paid (Column C) 

4.23.14 4.11.6 - Provision for outstanding claims at the end of the financial 
year (Column C) 

4.23.15 4.11.7 - Provision for outstanding claims at end of the previous year 
(Column C) 

4.23.17 4.13.4 – Net (income)/expense from other risk transfer 
arrangements (Consolidated total current year column) 

4.23.17.1 4.13.1 - Premiums/fees paid (Capitation fees) (Consolidated total 
current year column) 
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Consolidated Column 
Line 

Should agree to part 

4.23.17.2 4.13.2 – Less: Claims recoveries in respect of related risk transfer 
arrangements (Consolidated total current year column) 

4.23.17.3 4.13.3 - (Other) (Consolidated total current year column) 

4.23.18 4.11.10 - Relevant healthcare expenditure (Total) 

4.23.20 4.14.7 – Net income/(expense) from commercial reinsurance 
arrangements (Consolidated total) 

4.23.21 4.12.31 - Managed care: management services (Total) 

4.23.22.1 4.15.3(a) - Broker service fees 

4.23.22.2 4.15.3(b) - Other distribution costs 

4.23.23 4.16.41 - Administration expenses (Current year: Fund) 

4.23.24 + 4.23.26 4.18.6 - Column H - Total movement in statement of comprehensive 
income for the year 

4.23.27 4.19.3 - Total other investment income    

4.23.30 4.20.7 - Total realised and unrealised gains/(losses) 

4.23.32 4.21.3 - Total own facility surplus/(deficit) 

4.23.34 4.22.4 - Total finance costs 

 
For more information on “other” risk transfer arrangements to be included in 4.23.12 to 4.23.17.3, 
please refer to details provided in part 4.3 (Trade and other receivables), 4.9 (Outstanding claims 
provision), 4.11 (Net claims incurred) and 4.13 (Net income/ (expense) from other risk transfer 
arrangements (excluding commercial reinsurance contracts)).  
 
The members and beneficiaries per benefit option in lines 4.23.38 and 4.23.39 are pulled through 
from part 2.1. 
 
If no savings plan contributions were received during the year, and a savings plan liability still 
existed at year end, the scheme will be required to supply further information regarding the 
procedures in place to refund the monies, and the timing thereof. 
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Part 4.24 Guarantees Supplied to Registrar in Terms of the Act 
 

 
 

Where, in accordance with the Act, a third party has provided a guarantee to the scheme to ensure 
the financial soundness of the scheme and/or it‟s benefit options, details of such guarantee is 
disclosed in this part. 
 
This will be any guarantees supplied in terms of section 24(5) of the Act and/or regulation 2(1) (j) of 
the Regulations to the Act; and/or sections 33(3) and 44(9) (b) of the Act. 
 
The scheme should also indicate the name of the institution which provided such guarantee to the 
scheme (i.e. a bank, the administrator etc.). 
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Part 4.25 Guarantees and Suretyships for Third Parties Liabilities (Including 
Contingent Liabilities) 

 

 
 

Where the scheme has provided a guarantee and/or suretyship to a third party, details of such 
guarantee and/or suretyship should be disclosed, per individual party to which such guarantee or 
suretyship was given. 
 
The scheme should also list all assets individually, which were encumbered at end of the financial 
year end. 
 
Whenever a scheme has completed this part, further detail in respect of Council‟s approval in 
terms of section 35(6) will be required. 
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Part 4.26 Related Party Transactions 
 

 
 

Due to inconsistencies experienced in the past, no differentiation between income and expenditure, 
as well as debit and credit balances are required. 
 
Potential related parties as well as related party disclosure are discussed in detail in Appendices V 
and VI of the 2010 SAICA Guide. In terms of IAS 24 – Related Party Disclosure, a party is related 
to an entity if: 
 
(a) directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, the party: 

(i) controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, the entity (this includes 
parents, subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries); 

(ii) has an interest in the entity that gives it significant influence over the entity; or  
(iii) has joint control over the entity; 

(b) the party is an associate (as defined in IAS 28 – Investments in Associates) of the entity or its 
parent; 

(c) the party is a joint venture in which the entity is a venturer (see IAS 31 – Interests in Joint 
Ventures); 

(d) the party is a member of the key management personnel of the entity or its parent; 
(e) the party is a close member of the family of any individual referred to in (a) or (d); 
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(f) the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by, or for 
which significant voting power in such entity resides with, directly or indirectly, any individual 
referred to in (d) or (e); or 

(g) the party is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of the entity, or of any 
entity that is a related party of the entity. 

 
The individual totals per this part should agree with the scheme‟s note in the audited financial 
statement with regards to related party transactions (in terms of IAS 24).  The statement of 
comprehensive income transactions for the year should be disclosed per party and per nature of 
transaction in part 4.26.1.  The scheme should not aggregate all the statement of comprehensive 
income related party transactions.  
 
The balances owing to/from related parties at year-end should be disclosed in part 4.26.2. The 
statement of financial position balances for the year should be disclosed per party and per nature. 
The scheme should not aggregate all the related party balances. 
 
The following are examples of the type of information that we require for purposes of part 4.26 
when a scheme has identified an entity as a related party: 
 
(Please note that the following examples are not considered to be an exhaustive list of all possible 
related parties and transactions.) 
 
Board of trustees/Principal officer/Executive management and their close family members (“Key 
management personnel”) 
 Trustee remuneration and considerations will be pulled through as an aggregate from part 4.17.  

- Fees received by trustees in respect of services rendered to related parties to the scheme will 
also pull through as an aggregate from part 4.17. 

- Principal Officer remuneration and considerations will be pulled through from part 4.16.27 and 
part 4.16.28.  

- Any other members of “executive” management‟s remuneration should be disclosed separately 
from the board of trustees and Principal Officers‟ remuneration. 

- Gross contributions received (disclosed in aggregate) 

- Gross claims paid (disclose in aggregate) 

- Ex-gratia payments (disclose in aggregate) 

- Any other transaction entered into between the scheme and one of the parties mentioned 
above (disclose per individual) 

- Any transactions between the scheme and another entity that is controlled, jointly controlled or 
significantly influenced by, or for which significant voting power in such entity resides with, 
directly or indirectly, one of the parties mentioned above (disclose per individual) 

- Outstanding balances on savings accounts (disclosed in aggregate) 

- Outstanding contributions payable to scheme (disclosed in aggregate) 

- Outstanding claims due by the scheme (disclosed in aggregate) 

- Outstanding balances with regards to any other transaction (disclose per individual) 
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Employer groups 

- Grant received from employer 

- Administration refund from employer 

- Rent paid to the employer 

- Administration fees paid if the employer group handles the administration function 

- Site office costs 

- Any other transactions 

- Outstanding balances due by the scheme in respect of the above transactions 

- Outstanding balances due to the scheme in respect of the above transactions 
 
Administrators 

- Administration fees paid 

- Administration fees recovered 

- Site office costs 

- Rent received (where administrator rents building from scheme) 

- Rent paid (where scheme rents building from administrator) 

- Any other transactions 

- Outstanding balances due by the scheme in respect of the above transactions 

- Outstanding balances due to the scheme in respect of the above transactions 
 
Managed care organisations 

- Managed care fee (the total amount per party must be provided as the details would have been 
provided in 4.12).  

- Outstanding balances due by the scheme in respect of the above transactions 

- Outstanding balances due to the scheme in respect of the above transactions 
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Subsidiaries, Joint Ventures, Associates and Significant Control 
(These entities‟ names will pull through from question 7 in part 1.4. Additional entries for each 
related party can be created by clicking on the “Copy” button.) 

- Any transactions 

- Outstanding balances due by the scheme  

- Outstanding balances due to the scheme  
 

 
 
Details need to be provided where transactions did not occur on an arms-length basis. 
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The following are examples of how part 4.26 have to be completed:  
 

    

Name Nature of Related 
party relationship 

Nature of 
transactions/ 

balances at year-
end 

Was the 
transaction/ 

balances at year-
end at arms-

length 

Amount 

          Y/N R 

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

4.26.1 Transactions for the year (statement 
of comprehensive income) 

          

4.26.1.1 Trustee remuneration & 
considerations 

Board of Trustees Key management 
personnel 

Trustee remuneration Yes 617,529 

4.26.1.2 Trustees: Fees received in respect 
of services rendered to related 
parties 

Board of Trustees Key management 
personnel 

Services rendered to 
related parties 

Yes 203,152 

4.26.1.3 Principal Officer remuneration & 
considerations 

Principal Officer Key management 
personnel 

Principal Officer 
remuneration 

Yes 1,944,808 
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Name Nature of Related 
party relationship 

Nature of 
transactions/ 

balances at year-
end 

Was the 
transaction/ 

balances at year-
end at arms-

length 

Amount 

4.26.1.4 AB Ltd Subsidiary Subsidiary Rental  No 20,000 

4.26.1.5 Contributions Board of Trustees Key management 
personnel 

Trustee contributions Yes 139,915 

4.26.1.6 Contributions Principal Officer Key management 
personnel 

Principal Officer 
contributions 

Yes 13,275 

4.26.1.7 Claims paid Board of Trustees Key management 
personnel 

Trustee claims paid Yes 38,219 

4.26.1.8 Claims paid Board of Trustees Key management 
personnel 

Trustee claims paid 
MSA 

Yes 38,492 

4.26.1.9 Claims paid Principal Officer Key management 
personnel 

Principal Officer 
claims paid 

Yes 102 

4.26.1.10 Claims paid Principal Officer Key management 
personnel 

Principal Officer 
claims paid MSA 

Yes 3,656 

4.26.1.11 A Smit Medical practice Board of Trustees Key management 
personnel 

Healthcare provider 
fees paid 

Yes 333,833 

4.26.1.12 AB Administrators (Pty) Ltd Administrator Significant influence Administration fees Yes 2,500,000 

4.26.1.13 AB Administrators (Pty) Ltd Administrator Significant influence Interest received on 
monthly balances 

Yes 491,652 



HELP FILE: 2010 ANNUAL STATUTORY RETURN    

Page 103 of 132 

    

Name Nature of Related 
party relationship 

Nature of 
transactions/ 

balances at year-
end 

Was the 
transaction/ 

balances at year-
end at arms-

length 

Amount 

4.26.1.14 AB Administrators (Pty) Ltd Administrator Significant influence Interest paid on 
monthly balances 

Yes 48,679 

4.26.1.15 AB Administrators (Pty) Ltd 
 
 

Managed care 
organisation 

Significant influence Managed care fees Yes 419,503,072 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

4.26.2 Balances at year end (statement of 
financial position) 

        
  

4.26.2.1 AB Ltd Subsidiary Subsidiary Rental owed No 40,000 

4.26.2.2 Contributions debtor Principal Officer Key management 
personnel 

Principal Officer 
contribution debtor 

Yes 1,093 

4.26.2.3 Savings plan liability Principal Officer Key management 
personnel 

Savings plan liability Yes 1,683 

4.26.2.4 Contributions debtor Board of Trustees Key management 
personnel 

Trustee contributions 
debtors 

Yes 5,397 

4.26.2.5 Savings plan liability Board of Trustees Key management 
personnel 

Savings plan liability Yes 9,556 

4.26.2.6 AB Administrators (Pty) Ltd Administrator Significant influence Administration fees 
payable 

Yes 188,529,398 
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PART 5 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
 

 
 

Most of the statement of financial position balances for the current year pulls automatically through 
from the individual parts, completed in part 4 and part 7 of the return; except for other non-current 
assets, inventories, other current assets and minority interest (where a scheme completes 
consolidated financial statements). 
 
Details of other non-current and current assets should be provided in the description line provided 
for in part 5.1.1.3 and 5.1.2.5 respectively; all the scheme‟s non-current and current assets should 
not be aggregated and disclosed as a single line in part 5.1.1.3 and 5.1.2.5.  
 
The majority of the scheme‟s previous year‟s figures are automatically pulled through from the 
previous year‟s return. The scheme has the option to unlock these amounts and edit them in 
instances where changes occurred. The following lines pull through from opening balances in 
parts 4 and 7: 

- Property, plant and equipment; 

- Accumulated funds; 

- Revaluation reserve – investments; 

- Revaluation reserve – property, plant and equipment; 

- Reserves set aside for specific purposes; 



HELP FILE: 2010 ANNUAL STATUTORY RETURN    

Page 105 of 132 
 

- Other reserves; 

- Savings plan liability; and 

- Outstanding claims provision. 
 
The savings plan liability is a current liability, due to the fact that if the members of the scheme 
leave tomorrow, their credit savings account balances must be transferred or paid out immediately 
in terms of Regulation 10 of the Act. 
 
Details of other current liabilities should be provided in the description line provided for in part 
5.2.3.4; all the scheme‟s current liabilities should not be aggregated and disclosed as a single line 
in part 5.2.3.4. 
 
The total assets in part 5.1.3 must agree with the total funds and liabilities in part 5.3 (both current 
and prior year columns). 
 

PART 6 STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
 

 
 
The total amount for the current year income statement should at all times agree on a line for line 
basis with the amounts captured in part 4.23 of the return. 
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The other comprehensive income should agree with the net movements in the different reserve 
accounts (excluding movements due to amalgamations), for both the current and previous financial 
year. 
 
The prior year figures are automatically pulled through from the previous year‟s annual statutory 
return. Line 6.4.2 should agree to line 4.13.4‟s previous year consolidated total column.  Line 6.9 
should agree with line 4.16.41‟s previous year fund total column. The user has the option to unlock 
these amounts for editing when prior year adjustments/restatements occurred. 
 
Details (per nature of transaction) of the following income and expenses should be provided in the 
different parts: 

 Net impairment losses: Other (6.12) 

 Other income (6.17) 

 Other expenses (6.19) 

 Other comprehensive income (6.28) 
 
Where the scheme receives a grant from a sponsor, an employer, third party fund administrator, 
etc., whether to comply with Regulation 29 of the Regulations to the Act, namely, minimum 
accumulated funds to be maintained by the scheme, or for any other reason, the grant is shown 
separately under “Other income” in part 6.17.  Such grants do therefore not form part of the 
scheme‟s net healthcare result. 
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PART 7 STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FUNDS AND RESERVES 
 
Part 7.1 Accumulated Funds 
 

 
 

The opening balance as previously reported at the beginning of the previous year (7.1.1.1), pulls 
automatically through from the previous year‟s annual return (7.1.1).  Therefore, the scheme 
should restate the prior year‟s figures (where applicable) on the return by making use of line 
7.1.1.2. 
 
The closing balance of the previous year (7.1.5) pulls automatically through to the opening balance 
of the current year (as previously reported - 7.1.1.1). The current year‟s figure will therefore 
automatically incorporate any restatements of prior year balances. 
 
The net surplus/ (deficit) after consolidation for the year in part 7.1.2 pulls through from part 6.23, 
for both the current and previous financial year. 
 
The scheme should provide the exact nature of any amounts included in part 7.1.4.  The scheme 
should only complete this part if the return does not cater specifically for that kind of transaction 
elsewhere in part 7.1. 
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Part 7.2 Revaluation Reserve (Financial Instruments) 
 

 
 

The opening balance as previously reported at the beginning of the previous year (7.2.1.1), 
automatically pulls through from the previous year‟s annual return (7.2.1).  Therefore, the scheme 
should restate the prior year‟s figures (where applicable) on the return by making use of line 
7.2.1.2. 
 
The closing balance of the previous year (7.2.7) pulls automatically through to the opening balance 
of the current year (as previously reported – 7.2.1.1). Hence, the current year‟s figure will 
automatically incorporate any restatements of prior year‟s balances. 
 
The unrealised gains/losses on revaluation of investments (7.2.2) automatically pull through from 
6.25, for both the current and previous financial year. 
 
The realised (gains)/losses on derecognition of investments (7.2.3) automatically pulls through 
from 6.26, for both the current and previous financial year. 
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The scheme should provide the exact nature of any amounts included in part 7.2.6.  The scheme 
should only complete this part if the return does not cater specifically for that kind of transaction 
elsewhere in part 7.2. 
 

Part 7.3 Revaluation Reserve (Property, Plant and Equipment) 
 

 
 

The opening balance as previously reported at the beginning of the previous year (7.3.1.1), pulls 
automatically through from the previous year‟s annual return (7.3.1).  Therefore, the scheme 
should restate the prior year‟s figures (where applicable) on the return.  The scheme should please 
use 7.3.1.2 for any restatements.  
 
The closing balance of the previous year (7.3.6) pulls automatically through to the opening balance 
of the current year (as previously reported – 7.3.1.1). Hence, the current year‟s figure will 
automatically incorporate any restatements of prior year‟s balances. 
 
The unrealised gains/losses on revaluation of property, plant and equipment (7.3.2) automatically 
pulls through from 6.27, for both the current and previous financial year. 
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The scheme should provide the exact nature of any amounts included in part 7.3.5. The scheme 
should only complete this part if the return does not cater specifically for that kind of transaction 
elsewhere in part 7.3. 
 
Part 7.4 Reserves Set Aside for Specific Purposes 
 
The scheme should complete this part per individual reserve set aside for specific purposes.  The 
following screen will appear, to enable the scheme to capture the individual reserves: 
 

 
 

After capturing all the reserves set aside for specific purposes the user should press the „done‟ 
button.  The reserves captured will then automatically pull through to part 7.4. 
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The consolidated balance at the beginning of the previous year (7.4.1.1) automatically pulls 
through from the scheme‟s previous‟ annual return (7.4.1). Therefore, the scheme should restate 
the prior year‟s figures (where applicable) on the current year‟s return.   
 
The data should be captured per individual reserve, as the consolidated column sums the total of 
all the individual reserves. 
 
The closing balance of the previous year (7.4.4) pulls automatically through to the opening balance 
of the current year (as previously reported – 7.4.1.1). Hence, the current year‟s figure will 
automatically incorporate any restatements of prior year‟s balances. 
 
The scheme should provide the exact nature of any amounts included in part 7.4.3.  The scheme 
should also only complete this part, if the return does not cater specifically for that kind of 
transaction elsewhere in part 7.4. 
 
It should be noted that reserves set aside for specific purposes are excluded from the scheme‟s 
solvency ratio in terms of Regulation 29. 
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Part 7.5 Other Reserves 
 
The scheme should complete this part per individual other reserve.  The following screen will 
appear, to enable the scheme to capture the individual reserves: 
 

 
 
After capturing all the other reserves, the user should press the „done‟ button.  The reserves 
captured will then automatically pull through to part 7.5. 
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The consolidated balance at the beginning of the previous year (7.5.1.1) automatically pulls 
through from the scheme‟s previous‟ annual return (7.5.1). Therefore, the scheme should restate 
the prior year‟s figures (where applicable) on the current year‟s return.   
 
The data should be captured per individual reserve, as the consolidated column sums the total of 
all the individual reserves. 
 
The closing balance of the previous year (7.5.4) pulls automatically through to the opening balance 
of the current year (as previously reported – 7.5.1.1). Hence, the current year‟s figure will 
automatically incorporate any restatements of prior year‟s balances. 
 
The scheme should provide the exact nature of any amounts included in part 7.5.3.  The scheme 
should also only complete this part, if the return does not cater specifically for that kind of 
transaction elsewhere in part 7.5. 
 
It should be noted that other reserves are included from the scheme‟s solvency ratio in terms of 
Regulation 29. 
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PART 8 CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
 

 
 
Where a line starts with the word „Less‟, the scheme should place a minus in front of the figure. 
 
The scheme should also include the cash flow statement‟s comparative figures in the return. 
 
Details (per nature of transaction) of the following income and expenses should be provided in the 
different parts: 

 Other cash flows from operating activities (8.1.5) 

 Other cash flows from investing activities (8.2.10) 

 Other cash flows from financing activities (8.3.2) 

 Other net increases in cash and cash equivalents (8.6) 
 
The cash and cash equivalents at the end of the current year in part 8.8, should agree with the total 
cash and cash equivalents per statement of financial position in part 4.4.7 less any bank overdrafts 
in part 4.8.5. The cash and cash equivalents at the end of the previous year in part 8.8, should 
either agree with or be less than part 5.1.2.4 (previous year column) 
 
The cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the previous year (8.5.1) pull automatically 
through from the scheme‟s previous year‟s annual return (8.5). The closing balance at the end of 
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the previous year (8.8) pulls then automatically through to opening cash and cash equivalent for 
the current year in part 8.5.1. 
 
PART 9 INVESTMENT ANALYSIS 
 
Part 9(a) Assets Held in the Republic 
 

 
 
Please note that the definitions of the fair values of assets as set out in Regulation 30(4) may in 
some instances not be in line with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). However, in 
terms of Regulation 30(7) the Registrar directs medical schemes to calculate the fair value of 
assets as prescribed by the International Financial Reporting Standards. 
 
The bank institutions for all cash investments (including all current bank accounts), should be 
provided in category 9.1 of part 9(a) the return. These balances should take the effect of 
outstanding cheques into account as per part 4.4.9. Please note that should the investment 
portfolios have a „trading account‟, the scheme should indicate at which bank institution these 
accounts are held.  
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The names of all the registered banks will appear in a drop down list and the scheme should simply 
choose the institution required. Please note that only one institution can be selected at a time. The 
amount invested in any one institution should be in aggregate.   
 
Please refer to the published guideline on our website that provides a listing of all registered banks; 
mutual banks; local branches of foreign banks; and foreign banks with approved local 
representative offices as per the South African Reserve Banks‟ Banks Supervision Unit. The 
guideline further sub-categorises these banks in terms of Category 1 of Annexure B to the 
Regulations. 
 
The name of the institutions which issued all bills, bonds, securities or any other money market 
investments should be captured in 9.2 of part 9(a) of the return.  
 
The names of all the listed entities which are classified in categories 2(a)(i) – 2(a)(xiv) and 2(b) will 
appear in a drop down list and the scheme should simply choose the institution required. Please 
note that only one institution can be selected at a time. The amount invested in any one institution 
should be in aggregate. Where the scheme has investments in other entities than those listed, the 
“other” button provided in the drop down list should be used, clearly indicating the nature of these 
investments. 
 
Please refer to the published guideline on our website that provides a detailed listing of all listed 
instruments on the Bond Exchange of South Africa (BESA). The guideline further categorises these 
instruments in the different sub-categories to category 2 of Annexure B to the Regulations.  
 
A detailed list of every single property investment should be captured in category 9.3 of part 9(a) of 
the return, including the names of all property companies (again listed in a drop down list) in which 
the scheme invests. The amounts can be aggregated per company or per property. These also 
include owner occupied properties. The said drop down list only indicate listed property companies, 
any other investments (i.e. owner occupied buildings, etc.) should be entered by making use of the 
“other” button within the drop down list. For investments in listed securities please refer to the 
published guideline on our website that provides a categorisation of listed instruments on the 
Johannesburg Stock Exchange (JSE). 
 
Part 9(a) subtotal: Category 3(a) must be equal or greater than the total investment property (part 
4.2.1) plus the net carrying amount of the land and buildings at end of year (part 4.1.3). 
 
A detailed list of all the companies in which any equity investments are held should be captured in 
category 9.4 of part 9(a) of the return. These amounts must be aggregated per company. The 
scheme should simply choose the institution required from the applicable drop down lists. The 
amount invested in any one institution should be in aggregate. Where the scheme has investments 
in other entities than those listed, the “other” button provided in the drop down list should be used, 
clearly indicating the nature of these investments. 
 
Please refer to the published guideline on our website that provides information on the 
categorisation of all listed instruments on both the JSE and BESA in accordance to the 
requirements of Annexure B to the Regulations in the different sub-categories of 
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categories 2 (bonds), 3 (property), 4 (shares), 5 (debentures) and 7 (other assets). All these 
guidelines have been incorporated in the drop down lists in the relevant categories. 
 
The underlying assets of all equity unit trusts, pooled equity managed funds and policies of 
insurance should be provided separately from the direct investment in the relevant columns of the 
part. These underlying assets should be disclosed to the same extent as the other individual 
investments described above, in categories 1 - 7 of part 9(a) of the return.  
 
The total of the amounts captured in the relevant columns for equity unit trusts or pooled equity 
managed funds and policies of insurances should agree with the totals captured in the direct 
investment column‟s categories 4(a)(iv), 4(a)(v) and 6 respectively. In order to prevent double 
counting, any amounts captured in these columns will not be included in  the total assets in 
category 9.10 of part 9(a) of the return. 
 
This will effect the requirements of explanatory note 8 to Annexure B: “Unit trusts and policies of 
insurance may not be utilised to circumvent the limitations of these regulations. Medical schemes 
are required to demonstrate on a “look-through” basis that such avenues have not been utilised to 
bypass the limitations imposed by Annexure B”. 
 
Please refer to the list of insurers registered in the Republic that is published on our website. 
 
Some investment portfolios refer to percentage holdings in „other assets‟ or „international assets‟, 
please note that the full details of these investments should be provided per asset class in the 
return. 
 
Part 9(a) subtotal: Category 7(a) (i) must agree with the current year‟s inventories (part 5.1.2.1). 
 
The following assets in category 7(a) (iii) pulls through automatically: 
 

Asset Pull through from 

Property, plant and equipment: 
computer equipment and software  
(direct investment) 

4.1.3 - Net Carrying amount at end of year  (Computer 
Equipment and Software) 

Property, plant and equipment: 
furniture and fittings  (direct 
investment) 

4.1.3 - Net Carrying amount at end of year  (Furniture 
and Fittings) 

Property, plant and equipment: motor 
vehicles (direct investment) 

4.1.3 - Net Carrying amount at end of year  (Motor 
Vehicles) 

Property, plant and equipment: other  
(direct investment) 

4.1.3 - Net Carrying amount at end of year  (Other) 

Part 9(a) subtotal:  category 7(a)(iii) must be equal to or greater than the net carrying amount the 
computer equipment, Furniture & fittings, Motor vehicles column and Other assets at end of year 
(part 4.1.3). 
 
Trade and other receivables in category 9.9 of part 9(a) (direct investment) of the return 
automatically pulls through from part 5.1.2.2 of the statement of financial position. 
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The total assets in category 9.10 of part 9(a) of the return is the sum of all the amounts captured 
under categories 9.1 – 9.7 (all the grey headings), plus intangible assets and trade and other 
receivables. This total should agree with the sum of the total assets in part 5.1.3 of the statement of 
financial position and outstanding cheques per part 4.4.8.   
 
Assets encumbered in category 9.11 of part 9(a) (direct investment) of the return pulls 
automatically through from part 4.25.2 of the return. 

 
Part 9(b) Assets Held in the Republic in Terms of Regulation 30 in Conjunction with 

Annexure B to the Regulations 
 

 
 
This part should be completed per person/company/institution managing the investments of the 
scheme, whether it is managed on behalf of the scheme or by the scheme itself.  
 
Important to note that only FAIS registered entities are allowed to manage investments on behalf of 
a medical scheme.  
 
Please refer to the Financial Services Board‟s website (www.fsb.co.za) for more details on 
registered Financial Service Providers. A list of these providers as at 31 December is also 
published on our website. 

http://www.fsb.co.za/
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The total net assets per Regulation 30 in Part 9(b) must agree with the total net assets per 
Regulation 30 in Part 9(a). 
 

PART 10 MINIMUM ACCUMULATED FUNDS TO BE MAINTAINED 
 
Part 10.1 Cumulative Net Gain on Re-measurement of Properties and Investments 
 

 
 

Part 10.1 is only applicable to those kind of investments, where it is/was the scheme‟s accounting 
policy to take any unrealised gains/(losses) on the re-measurement of investments to the income 
statement (accumulated funds); as all other unrealised gains will be accommodated in the 
revaluation reserves in part 7.2 and part 7.3 (and as part of the statement of other comprehensive 
income). Any consolidated results are also included in this part, in order to ensure that the solvency 
calculation is based on scheme-only results. 
Part 10.1 starts with the net gains/ (losses) on the re-measurement of properties and investments 
to fair value, which were previously included in accumulated funds.  This balance at the beginning 
of the year (10.1.1) pulls automatically through from the scheme‟s previous year‟s annual return. 
 
In the event that there is an adjustment to the opening balance, the scheme would be required to 
provide details in respect of this adjustment in the reason box. 
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Part 10.1 continues to extract all the net unrealised gains/ (losses) included in the current year‟s 
income statement. 
 
The unrealised gains/ (losses) on revaluation of investments and property, plant and equipment 
included in the income statement in part 10.1.2 pulls automatically through from 
part 4.20.4 (unrealised gains/ (losses) on revaluation of investment property), and part 4.20.5 (net 
gains/ (losses) on revaluation of investments carried at fair value through the income statement) as 
well as part 7.1.3.2 (due to re-measurement of investments and property, plant and equipment). 
 
Part 10.1.3 summarise the total gross unrealised gains/ (losses) in the current year‟s accumulated 
funds. 
 
However, to ensure that only the net unrealised gains/ (losses) are deducted from the solvency 
ratio, the scheme should capture any permanent impairment losses and reversal of impairment 
losses on revaluation of investments and property, plant and equipment included in the income 
statement in part 10.1.4.  This amount should be captured as a negative amount, to ensure that it 
is deducted from the gross unrealised gains. 
 
Furthermore, the scheme should deduct all realised portions of any unrealised gains/(losses), 
which were previously included in the accumulated funds (income statement), in part 10.1.5; this 
will ensure that only the net unrealised gain/(loss) is deducted from the solvency calculation.  
 
The scheme‟s consolidated results are excluded in line 10.1.6 (automatic pull through from line 
6.22). 
 
A detailed description of any transaction included in part 10.1.7 should be provided; as this will 
have a direct impact on the solvency calculation of the scheme at year-end. 
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Part 10.2 Solvency Ratio 
 

 
 

Accumulated funds in terms of Regulation 29 
Accumulated funds represent the net asset value of the scheme excluding funds set-aside for 
specific purposes, unrealised non-distributable reserves and encumbered assets. Therefore, the 
total members‟ funds in 10.2.1 pulls automatically through from part 5.2.1 of the return. 
 
Unrealised non-distributable reserves 
Both the revaluation reserve for investments (part 7.2) as well as the revaluation reserve for 
property, plant and equipment (part 7.3) should be deducted from the total members‟ funds for 
solvency purposes; to ensure that unrealised non-distributable reserves are excluded. 
 
Therefore, part 10.2.2 automatically pulls through from (part 5.2.1.2 (revaluation reserve for 
investments) plus part 5.2.1.3 (revaluation reserve for property, plant and equipment)).  
 
Funds set aside for specific purposes 
All funds set aside for future claims, whatever they are called, should be included in accumulated 
funds. This has the effect of looking at the nature of the fund, rather than the name.  
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However, funds “set aside for specific non-claims purposes” should be excluded from accumulated 
funds.  
 
It is therefore recommended that schemes classify their reserves properly keeping in mind the 
Regulation 29 prescriptions. 
 
Part 10.2.3 pulls automatically through from part 5.2.1.4 (reserves set aside for specific purposes). 
 
Cumulative net gains on revaluation of investments and property, plant and equipment included in 
the income statement    
Part 10.2.4 automatically pulls through from part 10.1.6; should part 10.1.6 be an unrealised gain.  
Where part 10.1 resulted in a net cumulative unrealised loss, it is ignored and not pulled through to 
part 10.2; as net unrealised losses are not added to accumulated funds to calculate solvency. 
 
However, in some instances it was noted that a scheme‟s accounting policy states that for some 
investments the unrealised gains/ (losses) on the re-measurement of that investment are taken to 
the income statement (i.e. investment property), and for its other investments the unrealised gain/ 
(loss) on the re-measurement of that investment to fair value are taken to a revaluation reserve (i.e. 
available-for-sale investments). 
 
Therefore, to ensure that only the net unrealised gains are deducted from solvency, the formula in 
part 10.2.4 also determines whether the scheme had any revaluation reserves in part 10.2.2.  
Where a scheme had a positive revaluation reserve (hence an unrealised gain) in the statement of 
financial position, as well as an unrealised loss in part 10.1.6, the formula in part 10.2.4 will add 
back the unrealised loss in part 10.1.6, limited to the revaluation reserve amount in part 10.2.2.  
This will ensure that only unrealised gains are deducted from the solvency ratio, and that no 
unrealised losses are added to the solvency ratio. 
 
Important to note that, where a scheme had a revaluation reserve (unrealised gain) in part 10.2.2 
as well as a cumulative net unrealised gain in part 10.1.6 the full unrealised gain will pull through to 
part 10.2.4. 
 
Encumbered assets 
Section 35(4) of the Act states: “A medical scheme shall not be deemed to hold an asset for the 
purposes of this Act to the extent that such asset is encumbered”. In addition, section 35(6) (c) 
states that a medical scheme shall not directly or indirectly borrow money without the prior 
approval of the Council or subject to such directives as the Council may issue. 
  
Therefore, where a specific asset is encumbered in respect of obligations between other persons 
(third party liability), there is a risk of loss to the scheme. For example, a cession of share 
certificates or insurance policy as collateral for a third party loan. In such a case, the liability will be 
in the third party‟s books. Such encumbered assets should be deducted from the accumulated 
funds. Should other variants of encumbrances present themselves to medical schemes, the 
underlying principles, including risk of loss and location of liability, should be considered. The final 
effect should not be an iniquitous position for the scheme. 
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However, where an encumbered asset is in respect of a liability that is in the scheme‟s statement 
of financial position, the encumbered assets should not be deducted from accumulated funds. This 
would be the case, for instance, in a finance lease or instalment sale agreement where computer 
equipment has been purchased. If the encumbered assets were to be deducted, the net effect 
would be a net liability, which is tantamount to double accounting. 
 
The amount in line 10.2.5 pulls automatically through from part 4.25.2 in respect of total 
encumbered assets and total suretyships. 
 
Minority interest 
Only scheme-specific funds are taken into account in the solvency calculation. Minority interests in 
consolidated parties are therefore deducted from the total members‟ funds per statement of 
financial position. The amount in line 10.2.6 automatically pulls through from line 5.2.1.6 (minority 
interest). 
 
Subordinated loans 
The scheme should only add a subordinated loan in part 10.2.7 if Council has approved the 
subordinated loan, and gave approval that the specific loan can be treated as equity. 
 
Annualised gross contributions 
It should be noted that the gross annual contributions includes the annual contributions to 
members‟ savings accounts. Hence, the annualised gross contributions in part 10.2.10 pulls 
automatically through from part 6.1 of the return. 
 
Where a scheme did not meet the required minimum solvency level of 25%, as set out in 
Regulation 29, they should complete the reason box at the bottom of part 10.2; indicating the 
reasons for not meeting the 25% solvency level, how many days the solvency level was below 
25%, and whether a business plan was submitted to Council in terms of section 35(11) and 
Regulation 29(4)). 
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PART 11 REPORTING BY THE AUDITORS IN TERMS OF SECTIONS 36, 37 & 39 OF 
THE ACT 
 
Please note that these reports need to be amended by the auditor, printed on the auditor‟s 
letterhead and signed by the auditor. 
 
Part 11(a) – Auditor’s report 
 

 
 
This part is a normal audit report, where the auditor signs off on parts 4 to 10 of the annual return. 
Auditors can also refer to our website for the guideline containing this report. 
 
It should be noted that this report should be amended and printed on the auditor‟s letterhead; and 
signed.   
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Part 11(b) – Limited assurance report 
 

 
 
This part contains the agreed upon procedure report to be signed off by the auditor. Auditors can 
also refer to our website for the guideline containing this report. 
 
This part requires the auditor to report on certain non-compliance matters with regards to the 
Medical Schemes Act 131 of 1998, which were noted during the performance of their normal audit 
procedures. 
 
The auditor should ensure that all the necessary tests are performed during the course of the audit, 
to be able to sign off on this report. 
 
It is also very important that the auditor specifies all the exceptions noted. 
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PRINT REQUEST FOR RETURN 
 

To access the print options available, the user should click on the “print” option available on the 
task bar.  The following screen will appear: 
 

 
 
This page explains in detail the different print options available to the user as well as the 
procedures to be followed. 
 
Hence, the user has the following print options: 

 Print validation rules:  A list of all the validation rules applicable to that specific year‟s statutory 
return will be e-mailed to the user. 

 Print pull throughs: A list of all the pull throughs applicable for that specific year‟s statutory 
return will be e-mailed to the user. 

 Print a blank return: A blank word document for that specific year‟s statutory return will be e-
mailed to the user.   

 Print return for auditors: A draft word document, which contains all the information currently 
captured on the return, will be e-mailed to the user. 

 
It should be noted that all print requests are sent to the Office‟s generators, which are processed 
on a first come first serve basis.  Hence, all requests are queued at the generators to be 
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processed.  Please note that it takes approximately 30 minutes for an annual statutory return word 
document to be generated.   
Therefore, should you be third in the queue, you will only receive your word document (whether it is 
a final or draft copy) in an hour and a half‟s time. 
 
Also important to note that print requests will be e-mailed to the user as well as to the Principal 
Officer, Chairperson and Trustee signature.  The data captured in part 1.1 of the return will be used 
to obtain the e-mail addresses of the relevant people. 
 
VALIDATION OF RETURN 
 

To validate a return, please click on the „validate‟ option on the task bar.  The following screen will 
appear: 
 

 
 
This page explains in detail the validation process. It should be noted that all validation requests 
are sent to the Office‟s generators, which are processed on a first come first serve basis.  Hence, 
all requests are queued at the generators to be processed.  Please note that it takes approximately 
5 minutes to validate an annual statutory return.  Therefore, should you be third in the queue, you 
will only receive your validation results via e-mail in 15 minutes‟ time.  
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After clicking on the validate button the following screen appears, which only explains the validation 
process further.  The user should click on OK. 
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It should be noted that the user will not be able to access the online statutory return, whilst the 
return is in the queue to be validated.  The following screen will appear, if the user tries to access 
the online statutory return, whilst the return is busy validating: 
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SUBMISSION OF RETURN 
 

When the return has been completed in its entirety, the auditors and the board of trustees had 
approved the draft word document and all validation rules have successfully passed, the user can 
submit the return, which will ensure that a final word document is e-mailed to the scheme. 
 
The user should use the „submit‟ option on the task bar, to submit the return.  The following screen 
will appear: 
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The user should now click on the „Submit Return‟ button at the bottom of the page.  The following 
screen will appear: 

 

 
 
The user should now only click on the OK button. 
 
Important to note that when the return has been submitted it will automatically be sent to the 
validation generators, to ensure that the final return has successfully validated.  If all the validation 
rules passed successfully, the system will automatically send the return to the word document 
generator, where it will be queued for processing of the final word document. 
 
Again, as stated under the print function, all print requests are sent to the Office‟s generators, 
which are processed on a first come first serve basis.  Hence, all requests are queued at the 
generators to be processed.  Please note that it takes approximately 30 minutes for an annual 
statutory return word document to be generated.  Therefore, should you be third in the queue, you 
will only receive your word document (whether it is a final or draft copy) in an hour and a half‟s 
time. 
 
It should also be noted that after the return has been submitted, it will be locked and the user will 
not be able to make any further adjustments to the return.  Hence, before the user does a final 
submission of the return, he or she should ensure that both the board of trustees and auditors are 
in agreement that no further changes are required to the online statutory return. 
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HELP FUNCTION 
 

This document will be available from the „Help‟ function on the task bar. 
 
LOG OUT FUNCTION 
 

As soon as the user presses the “Log out” button on the task bar, it will go back to the login screen: 
 

 


